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Thursday, June 2, 2005

     ‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:35 a.m.


MR. BETTS:  Thank you everybody, please be seated.

Good morning, everybody.  Can everybody hear me all right at the back there?  Thank you.  I see nodding heads.  The Board is sitting today to resume the hearing of application RP-2003‑0253 submitted by Tipperary Gas Corp. and Tribute Resources Inc. in connection with the Tipperary storage pool project.  This application forms a proposal to convert a heating natural gas production area into a natural gas storage pool providing storage services.  


The original application was dealt with in an oral hearing August 9th through 17th in 2004, with final arguments filed on August 20th, 2004.  On August 25th, 2004, the Board issued a partial decision with reasons which, among other things, offered the applicant the opportunity to provide the Board with additional evidence demonstrating the applicant's ability to carry out a viable storage and injection operation on the site.


Following that hearing, the Board continued on February 15th, 2005 to deal with the issues of confidentiality, licensing matters, test results or test result information, landowner compensation and a further review of the project's financial viability.  That portion has since been referred to as phase 2 of the proceeding.  


Since that time, the Board has provided an update to the Minister of Natural Resources on the drilling matters and has approved a compensation schedule for landowners in the storage area.  


The Board will be issuing a decision on interim cost awards within the next few days and possibly even within the time frame of this hearing, but that is very close to being complete.


The Board deferred consideration of the project's financial viability pending a decision in the Union Gas application for a new M16 rate for natural gas transportation, which had an acknowledged effect on the business plan of the applicants, and, therefore, the project's financial viability.  The M16 rate was heard under Board's file RP-2003‑0063, EB-2004‑0542, and the Board issued its decision on May 16th ‑‑ May 19th, 2005.  The applicant has since filed a revised financial package, which is the subject of today's hearing.  


The parties will probably recognize the Board panel, which consists of three members:  On my left, Mr. Paul Sommerville; on my right, Ms. Pamela Nowina; and myself presiding today as Bob Betts.  


First of all, may I have appearances from the applicant, first of all, please.  

APPEARANCES:

MR. BUDD:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, members of the Board, my name is Peter Budd and I'm acting on behalf of the applicants in this proceeding.


MR. BETTS:  Thank you, Mr. Budd.  And next, appearances, anybody?  


MR. LESLIE:  My name is Glenn Leslie and I act for Union Gas.


MR. BETTS:  Welcome, Mr. Leslie.  


MR. CHINNECK:  My name is Jed Chinneck.  I act for TSLA.


MR. BETTS:  Mr. Chinneck.  


MR. THOMPSON:  I'm Stephen Thompson.  I'm representative of the Huron Federation of Agriculture.


MR. BETTS:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.


MR. GIBSON:  Gibson, initial S, appearing for the Ministry of Natural Resources.


MR. BETTS:  Thank you.  I'm sorry, the name again?


MR. GIBSON:  Gibson.


MR. BETTS:  Thank you, Mr. Gibson.  


THOMPSON:  I'm David Thompson, representing Northern Cross Energy.


MR. BETTS:  Mr. Thompson.  Anyone else?  


MR. REDFORD:  Jim Redford representing Market Hub Partners Ltd. 


MR. BETTS:  A little louder for me.  If you are going to be talking, I would like you to move to a microphone, but certainly if you can yell out that last name for me.  


MR. REDFORD:  Sure.  Jim Redford, R-E-D-F-O-R-D.


MR. BETTS:  Thank you, Mr. Redford.


MR. REDFORD:  Market Hub Partners Ltd.


MR. VEGH:  George Vegh, Board counsel.


MR. BETTS:  Thank you, Mr. Vegh.  I wouldn't have forgotten.  Thank you.  And that is all the appearances for today?  


Are there any preliminary matters to be brought to the panel's attention at this point?  Mr. Budd, first of all.

PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. BUDD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Indeed I do have a few, most of which I think are non-controversial.  First of all, I would just like to mention that our panel today is slightly differently constituted.  You may have noticed.  Mr. Fisher is not here, and he is now a full-time employee at TransCanada, so I think the Board may be aware of that.  But Mr. Jack Schoenmakers is here and he will be sitting in as our gas expert, with an extensive background.  


I will be proposing at some point to go through his curriculum vitae.  That is one thing I think we need to mark as an exhibit.  I've provided copies to the Board, the staff here, I think.  And there are copies at the back of the room, as well, the curriculum vitae of Jack Schoenmakers.


MR. BETTS:  We could perhaps enter that when we swear in the panel.  Thank you.


MR. BUDD:  Secondly, I just wanted to advise the Board that Mr. Don Crich, who is one of the primary investors at this point in the project, will be joining us probably before noon this morning, and he does not have a curriculum vitae, but I will introduce him, in any event, at that time.  


The third item that I wanted to speak with you about, Mr. Chairman, members of the Board, is how we're going to work today in respect of the confidentiality process.  I've had an opportunity to speak with Mr. Vegh and most of, if not all of, the intervenors behind, I understand, have got a view on this, and that is how we might proceed.  So if it's okay with the Board at this point, I would like to explain what we are thinking and, of course, let the panel make that decision as to how we would proceed.


MR. BETTS:  Thank you.


MR. BUDD:  Essentially what we're thinking of is splitting the case a little bit today, and we think it is manageable.  We would have a part of our direct evidence, which is all for the public, and that would be even acceptable if our competitors heard those things on a general basis.  Part of the direct evidence we would lead first in that respect, and then any questions that came out of that, we could deal with that.  


Of course, we as applicants have to make our own case in respect of the business planning and the financial viability, and we have filed on a confidential basis with the Board the detailed schedules that we've been asked to file.  We've also filed redacted, with everybody that we could and did.  So we would think that the second part would be where I would have a continued direct evidence on the confidential numbers, explain them and allow those who are the non‑competitors, if they wish, to stay in the room and to hear that, subject to whatever the Board's procedures are for that, and then any cross‑examination that would ensue on that front, and particularly the Board questions that might ensue, as well.  


Then of course if there is anything else that is public toward the end, including argument, we're happy for people to come back in the room for that part, as well.  That's public.  


So I've had a chance more specifically to speak with Mr. Leslie from Union Gas, acting as counsel, and going down my list here, excuse me, David Thompson from Northern Cross, who we view as a competitor, and Mr. Redford from Market Hub.  Those are the only three that we had a potential concern with in respect of them not attending during the more detailed exchange on the numbers.  They have all graciously indicated that they would be prepared to excuse themselves at a time we're into that confidential part, and so I think there is agreement amongst counsel for that.  


Those are my submissions on how we might proceed today.  I know it's a bit delicate and the Board, of course, always wants to be as public as possible.  We certainly understand that.  And that's how we would like to proceed.


MR. BETTS:  Thank you.  I have one question for you, if I could, just for clarification.  The parties that you are prepared to allow to stay in that in-camera portion, have all of those parties signed undertakings of confidentiality?


MR. BUDD:  That is a housekeeping matter that we could undertake perhaps at that shift in the proceedings.  I can tell you, I think my friend Mr. Chinneck, in viewing the evidence back in February, he signed.  I believe Mr. Gibson also executed the same.  I recall he visited the Tribute offices in London where the materials were available.  Union declined at the time.  Northern Cross declined at the time; so did Market Hub.  We hadn't heard from them.  


Mr. Thompson requested the opportunity to review those documents this morning.  We met this morning and had an amicable conversation.  He has had an opportunity to review them, as well.  He has not signed the form, but I took an undertaking from him that he would, and the company accepted that, that he would keep those matters confidential.  That's, as far as I recall - anybody else might have a comment to make on that - but that's my recollection. 

     Those parties would be entitled to stay, of course.  

     MR. BETTS:  And, Mr. Thompson, can you confirm that you would be able to deal with those documents in that confidential manner?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  

     MR. BETTS:  Thank you.

     Are there any comments from any parties here today with respect to the submission that Mr. Budd just made? 

     Can I take it that there is no disagreement with the comments that he made?  Can I take it that there is no disagreement with the comments that he made? 

     Thank you. 

     The Board is prepared to proceed on that basis.  The one tricky part may be with respect to arguments --      

     MR. BUDD:  Yes.  

     MR. BETTS:  -- and parties will have to respect the issue of confidentiality.  It's quite possible - in fact, I've been involved with hearings where I would say it’s probable - that the parties can make their arguments without making specific reference to confidential items.  But that, I think, will be your responsibility, Mr. Budd, to oversee that argument phase, and let the Board know if somebody has made an error in presenting something.  

     Mr. Vegh, is there any comment you could help the Board with on this, at this stage?  

     MR. VEGH:  I don't think so.  Mr. Budd made his proposal to me before we started this morning.  It seems manageable, from a Staff perspective.  I certainly don't see an issue, in terms of the record as it’s now developed, in terms of Staff's presentation of either its cross-examination or submissions, where this would cause a problem -- that is, the approach that's being proposed.  

     And typically, in argument, people can be discreet enough to make reference to a confidential piece of information without specifically identifying it.  And so we could have as much a part of this record as public as possible, which has typically been the Board practice.     

     MR. BETTS:  Thank you.

     Another item that just -- a thought that came to mind, Mr. Budd, again -- and thank you for stating the Board's position, which is, the Board wants to keep as much public as possible.  One thing the Board has done in the past - and I’ll offer this to you and get your reaction - is to, when we go into a closed session, to keep those -- the minutes from those closed sessions separate, and allow the -- in this case, you, to review them and redact portions that you feel should be redacted and leave other portions unredacted.  So, in other words, to produce an unredacted version of the transcript.  Would you object to that?  

     MR. BUDD:  I think I understood that the Board itself would have an unredacted version of the transcript for its purposes.  There would be a redacted version of the transcript, which we could help you with, immediately, with the blackout program.  And I think that would be acceptable -- 

     MR. BETTS:  Thank you.  That -- 

     MR. BUDD:  -- I don't think I have any concerns with that. 

     MR. BETTS:  -- that would be very helpful, and take that extra step towards being --

     MR. BUDD:  Sure.

     MR. BETTS:  -- as public as possible.

     MR. BUDD:  Yes.

     MR. BETTS:  And, perhaps, I’d ask Mr. Vegh and yourself to be responsible for the redactions on that transcript, then.  

     MR. BUDD:  Yes.  That's a reasonable way for us to proceed.  Thank you, sir.  

     MR. BETTS:  Thank you. 

     Are there any other preliminary matters, Mr. Budd, from your point of view?  

     MR. BUDD:  I think we're there, and we could perhaps have the witnesses sworn and resworn, if that is necessary.       

     MR. BETTS:  Okay.  

     And I will just ask, are there any other preliminary matters to be brought to the Board’s -- Panel's attention at this stage?

     Thank you. 

     And Mr. Vegh, anything from your view?  

     MR. VEGH:  No, sir.  

     MR. BETTS:  Thank you. 

     I believe, then, we're ready to -- and we will ask the witnesses -- I believe Ms. Lowrie has been a witness before us before, but we will swear everybody in, again, for beginning. 

     Thank you.  

     TRIBUTE GAS CORPORATION AND TIPPERARY RESOURCES INC.- 

     PANEL 1: 

Jane Lowrie; Sworn.

Jack Schoenmakers; Sworn. 

     MR. BETTS:  Thank you.  The witnesses have been sworn in and, Mr. Budd, I know you mentioned earlier you would be presenting a C.V. for Mr. Schoenmakers as our first exhibit.  

     MR. BUDD:  Yes, sir.  Indeed, I have that and I think I left a few copies in front of Ms. Crnojacki there, at your desk, to pass up to the Board.  If we could, indeed, sir, mark this as an exhibit, that would be helpful.  Thank you. 

     MR. VEGH:  This would be Exhibit E9.1.  

EXHIBIT NO. E9.1: CURRICULUM VITAE OF JACK SCHOENMAKERS.

     MR. BETTS:  Thank you, Mr. Vegh, and you may proceed.

EXAMINATION BY MR. BUDD:      

     MR. BUDD:  Thank you, sir. 

     Ms. Lowrie, your position is the same as it was the last time you were here?  You're still President of Tribute; is that correct? 

     MS. LOWRIE:  Yes, it is. 

     MR. BUDD:  Thank you. 

     I would like to turn, then, if I could, to Mr. Schoenmakers, to speak with you briefly about your credentials and qualifications.  You are President of a number of companies and certainly have an extensive background in gas; is that correct? 

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes, I do.  

     MR. BUDD:  And in respect of the energy expertise that I’d like you to tell the Board a little bit about, I take it you're continuing to be President of Avenue Energy; is that right? 

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  That's correct. 

     MS. BROADFOOT:  And what do you do at Avenue Energy? 

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Avenue Energy has a couple of different facets to it.  It is an investment vehicle for my energy assets, which controls, or holds, about 14 percent of Tribute Resources, as well as some holdings in -- based in western Canada, with some small producers there.  I also market and trade natural gas volumes in western Canada, and eastern Canada, as well, at points around Dawn Parkway.  I have done some export business, but I haven't done as much of late.  It's mainly been concentrated in Ontario and western Canada.  

     MR. BUDD:  And prior to that, between 1997 and 2000, you were President of Ontario Energy Savings Corp; is that correct? 

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  That's correct.  I stepped down as President in 2000 and, what I neglected to do, in haste to get this out for the Board -- from 2000 to 2002 I was retained as a consultant as well as a Senior Vice-President there, of their energy purchases, for that two-year period from 2000 to 2002.

     I left there formally in 2002, and I still have a relationship with the company.  I have done some consulting work for them in the past couple of years, as well. 

     While I was there as President, we started the company from the ground up, and built it from a small business into a -- what's now a very large publicly-traded vehicle.  

     MR. BETTS:  Just for clarity, when you say “the company” in that portion that was left out, you're referring to Ontario Energy Savings? 

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Ontario Energy Savings, that's correct. 

     MR. BETTS:  Thank you.  

     MR. BUDD:  And prior to your position with the OESC organization, you were with Stampeder Energy; is that correct? 

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  That's correct.       

     MR. BUDD:  What did you do there? 

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Stampeder Energy was an oil and gas producer based in western Canada, was looking to establish a presence here in eastern Canada, in Ontario and Quebec.  And I set up an office based in Kitchener for them, hired some staff.  And we did -- we continued -- I continued along the same lines that I had with previous companies, which was build the marketing presence for the company through the commercial-industrial area, manage client volumes, trade natural gas access, Union storage and other two-arbitrage gas markets here, in eastern Canada.  

     MR. BUDD:  And you also, sir, prior to that, did a brief stint, between 1993 and 1994, at Enron Gas Services, in Ontario?  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes, I did.  I was there for about a year and, again, it was a very similar type of responsibility.  Enron had had a small presence here in eastern Canada and wanted to develop a larger marketing focus, so I was doing the same thing for them, but with more of an emphasis on trading IMEX volumes and accessing the IMEX to be able to do that.


MR. BUDD:  And prior to that, and I don't intend to go into much more detail with this, you were with a variety of companies, I take it, in the gas business; is that right?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes.  I've been in the marketing of natural gas since 19 ‑‑ I should say '88, roughly, shortly after -- or, sorry, I have to go back.  It's been quite some time.  Yes, it was around '88 that I started in the marketing area with Union's affiliate, Unigas, at the time.  And prior to that, I had some experience with both TransCanada and Union Gas.


MR. BUDD:  Thank you.  And I take it, as well, that you've been involved on either policy development or industry organizations throughout your career; is that correct?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes.  I'm a past board member of the Ontario Energy Association.  I was chair of the Ontario Energy Marketers Association.  I had some involvement in predecessor organizations, as well, the CIGMA I think as it was known back in the old days.


MR. BUDD:  For the record, that's the Canadian Independent Gas Marketing Association, CIGMA.  Thank you.  


Would you describe your expertise, then, as an individual who is qualified in gas markets in Ontario, storage, trading, transportation?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes.


MR. BUDD:  And you're also then an investor in this project personally?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes, I am.


MR. BUDD:  Thank you.  Well, Mr. Chairman, if the Board has any more questions about Mr. Schoenmakers's background, since this is the first time he has appeared before you, but has been involved in the project for some time, this might be a good time for yourselves or anybody to ask those questions.


MR. SOMERVILLE:  Mr. Schoenmakers, when did you become engaged with Tribute?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  I believe my first investment in Tribute was back in around 2002.  It might have been late 2001, but it was near 2002.  But I'd been involved with Tribute prior to that.  I had been -- in my roles with various other companies, I had marketed gas on behalf of Tribute and I was well aware of their production and their operations.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And you're a shareholder in Tribute today?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Avenue Energy Inc. is, yes, which I control.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. BETTS:  I have no further questions.  Mr. Budd, are you establishing this witness as an expert in this area?


MR. BUDD:  I am.


MR. BETTS:  You are?


MR. BUDD:  Yes.


MR. BETTS:  Then I will invite any questions from any parties.  Are there any?  Mr. Vegh.


MR. VEGH:  Yes.  I have some questions.  I just want to get a better understanding of the nature of Mr. Schoenmakers's evidence that you're offering.  Could you tell me what is the ‑‑ or, Mr. Budd, perhaps you could help me.  This is the first I've heard that you're offering up someone as an expert witness, so I would like to know what is the exact subject matter that you're planning to provide expert evidence on?


MR. BUDD:  How I would like to qualify Mr. Schoenmakers, Vegh, is so there is no controversy or no question from my friends or ‑‑ and a clear understanding from the Board, that this is an individual who has been working actively in the Ontario gas marketplace and somebody who can speak with authority and knowledge in respect of what it is that Tribute or the storage project is going to do, and that there is no controversy or lack of clarity about that.  


It's a bit of a pre-emptive measure, if you will, to make sure my friends are comfortable with the evidence he's going to give and we don't hear later in the day that somehow he's just not expert enough.  I had to think myself in getting the panel together just the depth of Mr. Schoenmakers's expertise, and I wanted to put that before the Board so they can have confidence in what it is he's going to say.


MR. VEGH:  And what is that?  What is the category?  How would you describe the category of expertise that Mr. Schoenmakers will give evidence on?


MR. BUDD:  That in his review of the business plan and in his review of the schedules, he is comfortable that the project is viable and it will work.


MR. VEGH:  So you're giving your expert opinion on the business plans?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  The portions of the business plan that I feel comfortable that I have the expertise in, which is the valuation of storage in eastern Canada.  Some of the other revenue sides, as well as the -- you know, some of the costing aspects, but I am not an engineer.  I can't speak to the engineering aspects of the pool operations.


MR. VEGH:  Were you involved in the preparation of the business plan, as well?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Not initially, no, but I've been aware of the plans in general; but not this plan, specifically.  I was involved in the new exhibits that were filed.


MR. VEGH:  When you say you were involved, were you involved in the preparation of the new exhibits that were filed?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes.


MR. VEGH:  Okay.  So we could treat the initial business plan as being the one that was filed back in November.  That was prepared -- you weren't involved in the preparation of that document?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  No.


MR. VEGH:  But you were involved in the preparation of the update that we'll mark as an exhibit today?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  That's correct.


MR. VEGH:  And you're providing your opinion on both business plans, though, the original business plan, as well as the updated business plan?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes, I'm prepared to do so.


MR. VEGH:  And, Ms. Lowrie, were you involved in the preparation of the original business plan?


MS. LOWRIE:  Yes, I was.


MR. VEGH:  So what I'm looking for is we need someone to speak to the business plans that were prepared, and then, Mr. Schoenmakers, I guess you will provide your insight into the original business plan, as well?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes.



MR. VEGH:  Now, can I just ask you and, Ms. Lowrie, perhaps that goes to you.  It is a question about ‑‑ initially, your marketing evidence was put forward by Mr. Francis and Mr. Fisher.  I assume that they were involved in the preparation or responsible for the preparation of the initial business plan?


MS. LOWRIE:  Mr. Fisher was responsible for the original business plan.  The business plan evolved over time and it didn't just exist for this purpose.  Dr. Walsh was involved in it, and actually Mr. Schoenmakers was involved in it in the early days, and so the plan that was presented was an evolution of all of ‑‑ of all of their ideas.


MR. VEGH:  I should be more precise, then.  The plan that I'm referring to is actually the evidence that was filed back in November, and it's marked now in the record as Exhibit 8.6 and it's a document entitled "North Tipperary Gas Storage Project Business Plan".  And it would help me shed light on ‑‑ it would help me to understand Mr. Schoenmakers's evidence to get a clearer understanding of, you know, who on the panel ‑‑ or who in the company was involved in the preparation of the original business plan, and then involved in the preparation of the revised business plan that was filed on May 31st.


MS. LOWRIE:  Mr. Fisher and I prepared the original.


MR. VEGH:  So you could speak to the assumptions and models used in that original plan?


MS. LOWRIE:  Yes.


MR. VEGH:  Frankly, Panel, I think it might confuse ‑- I'm at least a bit confused about both ‑‑ about finding that Mr. Schoenmakers is an expert, in the sense that he's been asked to give an expert opinion on a document that he prepared, and it's simpler, at least from my perspective, to understand his evidence as basically evidence on behalf of the company that is going to be provided in support of the revised business plan that was filed last week and marked as an exhibit.  


I'm not sure if an awful lot turns on that from the applicant's perspective, but, you know, a finding of someone giving expert evidence is a little different type of category than just having someone give evidence in support of the material that they provided to the Board.


MR. BETTS:  Mr. Budd, do you have any comment on that?


MR. BUDD:  Well, clearly the facts are what they are.  Mr. Schoenmakers has been intimately involved in preparing the revised schedules, which the Board is going to be looking at today.  He has an extensive background, as you've heard, through the review of his CV, in the gas marketplace.  I don't care perhaps as much if the Board is declining or my friend doesn't want a label of expert witness put on it.  


What I really want to avoid is, at some later point during the day or in argument phase, somebody suggesting that he's not an expert in the area, when he is.  And so whatever title somebody puts on it is not as important to me as the fact that he is accepted by my friends as somebody who can speak authoritatively to what is going on in the gas market in Ontario, and the fact is he's been very intimately involved in the schedules, which are the revised ones, subject to this hearing. 

     Thank you.

     MR. BETTS:  Thank you.  And I believe the Panel is going to be more comfortable with the approach that Mr. Vegh has proposed, and you've accepted on that basis. 

     The Board recognizes the qualifications of the witness.  That's quite clear from the C.V.  And I think the fact that he participated in the production of that, as well as his financial relationship with the applicants, in some way, probably, clouds the issue of acting as “an expert" in this case.

     So let's proceed on that basis. 

     Again, Mr. Schoenmakers’ C.V. is quite self-explanatory in terms of his history and knowledge in this sector, and the Board accepts that.  

     MR. BUDD:  Thank you, Mr. Chair. 

     Did you care to mark any of the exhibits at this time, before I begin the direct examination?  

     MR. BETTS:  If you're going to refer to them, we're happy to mark them at this stage.  

     MR. BUDD:  I think we should do that, as a housekeeping matter, if that's acceptable.  

     MR. BETTS:  Okay.  

     MR. BUDD:  What I would propose is that we mark the business plan “Revised Exhibits, dated May 26th, 2005.”  If we could have a number for that, please?  

     MR. BETTS:  And we do -- the Board panel has two versions.  One is a redacted version and one is a complete version.  Which one are you referring to now?  

     MR. BUDD:  Of course, I'll be referring to both through this proceeding, when we move into the confidential part, as well.  So if we could have an exhibit number that reflects that there are both, that would be helpful.  

     MR. BETTS:  Okay.  Mr. Vegh? 

     MR. VEGH:  So that will be Exhibit 9.2 on the document entitled “Business Plan, Revised”.  And why don't we do it this way:  for the document entitled “Business Plan, Revised, Confidential”, we'll mark it as 9.2(C).  Is that okay -- C for confidential?  

     MR. BETTS:  That works for me.  Thank you. 

EXHIBIT NO. 9.2:  NORTH TIPPERARY GAS STORAGE PROJECT, BUSINESS PLAN, REVISED, DATED MAY 26TH, 2005, BEING A REDACTED VERSION OF THE PLAN, FILED BY THE APPLICANT.

EXHIBIT NO. 9.2(C):  NORTH TIPPERARY GAS STORAGE PROJECT, BUSINESS PLAN, REVISED, CONFIDENTIAL, DATED MAY 26TH, 2005, BEING AN UNREDACTED VERSION OF THE PLAN, FILED BY THE APPLICANT.

     MR. BETTS:  Just those two, Mr. Budd, at this point?  

     MR. BUDD:  Yes, sir. 

     MR. BETTS:  You may proceed.

     MR. BUDD:  Thank you.

     Ms. Lowrie, I would like to start with you.  

     MR. BUDD:  Since the last time that we were before the Ontario Energy Board, I take it that you've had an opportunity to be examined, at the company's options, in respect to both business planning and financial viability of the project; is that correct? 

     MS. LOWRIE:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. BUDD:  And are there some factors that have changed, that you would like to just explain, while we're in this public part of the proceeding, to the Board and all parties? 

     MS. LOWRIE:  Several factors have changed and evolved.  Since August, in the last major hearing, we've invested a further $1 million into the limited partnership.  The funds were spent on the drilling of a well to test additional reserves in the pool, and -- which was then plugged back when additional reserves were not found.  And we took a core of the cap rock.  Also, we have spent the money on regulatory costs and consulting costs. 

     We've also participated in a M-16 review.  We have the Board's decision on the M-16 service, and have put those numbers into the business plan.  We've allowed for changes for the summer-winter gas price spreads in the storage market, as well, in our business plan, which has been positive for the project.  Mr. Schoenmakers will speak to that in a few moments. 

     We have also settled landowner issues, and issues with the Ministry of Natural Resources, which were basically related to bonding for Tipperary. 

     We have been targeting an April '06 injection, if regulatory approvals are received in a timely manner.  And we've really -- we've been moving ahead towards that, doing what engineering is required on our time-line -- the critical path of our time-line, to meet the April '06 injection. 

     To maintain our April '06 injection, we need a Board decision as soon as possible, because, if we don't get one, we'll miss the summer construction months.  Huron County, in January and February, you don't want to be building pipelines, right? 

     We've also had a change in personnel because of the delays.  Mr. Fisher has accepted a job with TransCanada.  The initial parties involved remain the same.  Mr. Jordan is still involved in the land.  Ms. McConnell is still involved in the drilling.  Mr. Schoenmakers has always been in the background.  He has invested with us in private oil and gas deals for some time, and has owned about, approximately, 16 percent of Tribute, and is willing to invest in this project.  

     As well, we own additional storage assets:  Mr. Schoenmakers, Mr. Crich and myself own the Bayfield Pool, which is approximately five BCF working storage capacity.  This project is just the first in the group of pools that -- 11 or 12 BCF that we hope to develop in Huron County.  

     MR. BUDD:  Thank you. 

     Now, if we could turn up what is now marked as the Exhibit 9.2, this is the redacted version of North Tipperary Gas Storage Project, Business Plan, Revised Exhibits, dated May 26th, 2005.

     In there will be a heading entitled “Exhibit 1, Revised Tipperary North Project Schedule, the project timetable. 

     I’d like to ask you, Ms. Lowrie, if you could turn that up in a moment, and walk us through that, so we can see just what that schedule looks like.  

     MS. LOWRIE:  Want me to do it now?  

     MR. BUDD:  Yes.  Go ahead.      

     MS. LOWRIE:  The regulatory and legal, we're hoping for a quick decision.  I don't want to order the compressor or incur large costs with regulatory uncertainty. 

     Injection and withdrawal wells, we would like to drill those in the summer.  The horizontal well will be drilled in August and September, hopefully, if we - this also, it's important to receive a quick -- a fast decision, because we have to line up the rigs for this.  Ms. McConnell has spoken to two companies, and we can get it done, I believe, in this timetable. 

     To re-complete the wells, we have a rig ready to move in in July and August, to plug the one well in North Tipp, and re-complete the other well, do the cement jobs necessary, and also site restoration, removing the -- on the Fetis property, removing the pipeline, if that timetable is suitable for them, or we can work around that.  But we were planning to do things in the summer months, if possible.  

     Ms. McConnell is the project manager for this portion of the pool.  She is -- it's really an oil and gas operation.  She's done this many times before, for us and other companies.

     As far as the compressor station, the compressor needs to be ordered by the end of June, to receive delivery in November or December.  

     We have proceeded with the engineering.  Mr. Fisher began the engineering, but he also was working with Cimeron, from Calgary.  So -- and they will be continuing with the engineering on the project.  

     So if we receive this, we anticipate rewarding a construction bid in July on that.  But the compressor has been sized.  Much of the work has been done.  And beginning the site preparation later in the summer with, like -- I guess you can follow it through metering, building construction and everything, in the fall. 

     The compressor station, we have a site for it.  Mr. Jordan is working on the approvals for it with the severance, and he anticipates that that will be completed by August or September. 

     He has also been working on approvals to go up the east side of the road, and they believe that that can be completed, for the piping to build a transmission line, in September.  

     Construction bid and award, I believe that we will be using T. W. Johnstone.  That's who is currently working on the project, and they will be building that in September and October.  As far as negotiating storage contracts, that's something that Mr. Schoenmakers will be responsible for, and hopefully everything goes well and we can begin injections in April.  It's important -- January and February are very difficult months for construction in Huron County, so it's important that we get a lot of the work done in the summer.


MR. BUDD:  Thank you.  Does that conclude your explanation of the project?


MS. LOWRIE:  Yes, it does.


MR. BUDD:  Thanks.  Now, I understand that the second sheet, Exhibit 2, which is the cost estimate, has remained confidential.  The only question that I would have for you on that, Ms. Lowrie, is there anything that has changed in respect of those numbers, or is that substantially the same?


MS. LOWRIE:  Substantially the same as it was.


MR. BUDD:  Thank you.  Mr. Schoenmakers, if I can turn to you for a moment.  That part of which you're comfortable with discussing in the public part of this proceeding, in schedule 3, which I understand is spread value of the calculation, can you speak to that and your general view on that one?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes.  I think you can -- you can see if you were to put the old Exhibit 3 next to this one, that the IMEX gas contracts have gone up substantially in the last while.


MR. VEGH:  Can I just stop you there?  When you're referring to the old Exhibit 3, that is Exhibit 3 of Exhibit 8.6, just for the record?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes, I will assume so.  I don't know what the old exhibit number was.


MR. BETTS:  I think it would certainly be helpful for us if we could try to use that reference, and with three versions around now, it would be helpful if we could be very specific.


MR. BUDD:  Yes.


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  I'm referring to -- sorry, it was Exhibit 8 ...


MR. VEGH:  8.6.


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  8.6, okay.  In there was an Exhibit 3, and I will go through the numbers there quickly just to make sure that we have the same starting point.  It shows a NINEX injection valuation of 605 for the summer, and withdrawal of, I believe that is 664.  I've written over it a little bit here.  If you look at Exhibit 9.2, that Exhibit 3 there, those numbers for the summer have changed to 681 and 759, respectively.  And you can see that we had an increase in the summer value of gas - this is the summer of '06 - of 76 cents, and the winter of 95 cents.  So not only have we had an increase in the complex; we've had an increase in the summer/winter spread of 21 cents -- or 19 cents, I should say.  


As well, there's been a change in the Dawn basis.  I had gone out and spoken to some of the counterparties that I deal with, and there was about a 4 cent differential between the basis between the summer and winter.  In other words, when you're purchasing your injection gas in the summer, it was about 23 cents over the NINEX, and when you're selling the winter gas, it was at about 27 cents.  So there's that difference in that spread, as well, which is -- again, has helped to benefit the project.  


And when you put those numbers through on the same basis, the only other update I believe that was made, or two other updates, was the Canadian dollar ‑‑ actually, no.  It had remained the same.  The only other change was a change in carrying costs.  Because the cost of gas going into storage was higher, we reflected that in the carrying costs.  It added a penny to that.  So, again, the spread valuation, looking at that current period, is 86 cents per gigajoule or 92 cents per MCF. 


Interestingly enough, in yesterday's market the NINEX was up 40 cents in the near term and about 20 cents in the period that we were talking about, such that both the summer and winter complex were up about 28 cents, but the spread remained the same.


MR. BUDD:  Thank you.  I just have one last question in this public portion, and that is, panel:  Can you advise the Board members and can you assure the intervenors in this case that you have the ability to build, construct and operate this underground gas storage facility?


MS. LOWRIE:  Yes, we do.


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  I feel very comfortable that we do, yes.


MR. BUDD:  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Those are all the questions I have in examination in‑chief at this point in time.  If there are any questions, of course we're happy to receive those questions now.


MR. BETTS:  Thank you.  Thank you.  Let us proceed with cross‑examination of the witnesses.  Our discussion, and I will forewarn everybody, was just to anticipate the next step, which you suggested will be moving into an

in-camera session.  And based on what we've heard so far, in terms of evidence, it may be questionable as to how much has to be dealt with -‑ how much more has to be dealt with in a closed session at all, but I would like to hear cross‑examination of these witnesses, and then we will conclude that question afterwards.  


So, first of all, are there any questions from parties appearing today to these witnesses?


MR. LESLIE:  I have a few questions.


MR. BETTS:  Mr. Leslie, please proceed.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. LESLIE:

MR. LESLIE:  I will direct these questions to the panel and you can decide between you who should be answering.  I wanted to refer to what I've got as Exhibit 9.2, which is the May 26th business plan, I believe.  And it's Exhibit 4, which is entitled "Revenues, Cash Flows and Earnings Base Case", and then below that it says, "Projection number 2, market bid firm M16 service."  Do you have that document?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes we do.


MR. LESLIE:  All right.  The first line under "Revenue" is north Tipperary revenue.  Then there are a series of numbers across the page for the years 2006 to 2010.  What capacity of storage are those revenue numbers based on?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  1.8 BCF in the north Tipperary case, and .7 BCF in the south Tipperary line.


MR. LESLIE:  That was my next question.  You have got a footnote that says the south Tipperary numbers are based on .7 BCF.  That's footnote number 1.


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes.


MR. LESLIE:  But the top line is based on 1.8 BCF.


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  That's correct.


MS. LOWRIE:  Which is the total.


MR. LESLIE:  That's the amount of capacity that you currently contracted with Union to serve, is it not?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Which?


MR. LESLIE:  The 1.8.


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  No.  I believe it is 2.5.  For the M16 service?


MR. LESLIE:  Well, I'm looking at your contract, and my understanding is that the current contract contemplates transportation services for injection and withdrawal of something in the order of 1.8 BCF.  It's 1.7 BCF for injection and 1.5 BCF for withdrawal, with a provision for best efforts overrun service.


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  I believe that's correct, yes.


MR. LESLIE:  All right.  So at present, there is no contract to deal with the .7 BCF that you're assuming in the south Tipperary pool?


MS. LOWRIE:  We were -- I believe we were told there was only enough market for 1.8 BCF.  There is only firm capacity of -- we were taking whatever firm capacity was available in developing the 1.8.  The .7, if you look at the maximum numbers, it is about 2.5 BCF capacity into the north and south Tipp.  And we were planning on seeing how

-- basically, how the project proceeded, how everything ran in the first year, and drilling a well into the south Tipp and bringing it on, if possible.       

     MR. LESLIE:  All right.

     The 2.5 BCF that you referred to, Ms. Lowrie, what does that number refer to?  

     MS. LOWRIE:  The 2.5 is the maximum room on Union system, I believe.  The South Tipp Pool is capable of an additional 1.3 BCF, but we need to be building a pipeline to the south to develop that -- 

     MR. LESLIE:  Well, I --

     MS. LOWRIE:  -- which is also in our plans.

     MR. LESLIE:  I'm advised that the maximum capacity is something less than 2.5 BCF.  It’s more in the order of 2.2 BCF. 

     MS. LOWRIE:  I guess when we begin the operations, we would find that.  And with profiles, and perhaps not develop the South Tipp, or develop the south Tipp for the market south. 

     MR. LESLIE:  Well that was really my point.  To the extent that my information is correct, would you agree with me that you're going to have to revise the capacity for South Tipperary to something like .4 BCF, or additional facilities are going to be required on the Union system?  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  I believe that there is 2.2 BCF of injection capability and 2.5 BCF of withdrawal capability.  So in the circumstance where there is that additional 300

-- or .3 BCF that we could inject, based on operating conditions, we would try to avail ourselves of that.  And we would still be able to make our markets in the wintertime, on a best-efforts basis. 

     MR. LESLIE:  But my point, Mr. Schoenmakers, is, if you want to inject into South Tipperary Pool in 2007, something more than 1.8 BCF that you've currently got under contract with Union -- and if Union's capacity to handle that is 2.2 BCF, then to get to the 7 you're going to have to build -- or the .7, you're going to have to build some additional pipe.  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  I believe that may be correct, but I haven't looked at the -- at those particular operating circumstances, to give you an answer on that.  We could give you an undertaking, if you'd like. 

     But my understanding, or I shouldn't say -- the future prospects for this are that there are other pools that we will develop, and there may be additional pipeline that will be built that will take that into account consideration 

     MR. LESLIE:  Well, that may well be.  My only point is that, to get to the .7 BCF that you've got in your business plan, additional facilities are going to be required.  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  I agree.  

     MR. LESLIE:  And to the extent that those facilities are constrained, at present, to what I'm advised is about .4 BCF, on an interruptible basis, your business plan would have to be revised.  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  In actual fact, the calculations that we have used take that into account, the interruptible nature of those additional volumes.  

     MR. LESLIE:  Which additional volumes?  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  The South Tipperary .7 BCF.  

     MR. LESLIE:  Well, if the interruptible capacity available on Union system is .4, not.7, interruptible, then would you require a further adjustment?  Or do your numbers take that into consideration?  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  I'm sorry, could you repeat that? 

     MR. LESLIE:  Well, if I change the .7 BCF in your footnote 1 to .4 BCF, and make it interruptible, do the numbers in the second line under “South Tipperary Revenues” change?  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  They would, to the extent that we would likely have to sell a portion of it at a lower cost -- contract the storage at a lower cost, if it were interruptible.  

     MR. LESLIE:  And what about the difference between .4 and .7?  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  It's factored in that way, from an operational point of view -- from our calculation of transportation revenues, but not from a revenue point of view.  So, yes, it would have to be adjusted.  

     MR. LESLIE:  All right.  

     There's a line showing Union M-16 transportation, under "expense".  And I'm told that that does reflect the Board's decision in the M-16 rate case that occurred recently. 

     Can you advise the Board whether those numbers are all for firm service?  Or are they partly firm service, and partly for overrun service?  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  They're partly firm and partly overrun.  To the extent that the operating conditions and the contract parameters allow firm, we've factored in the firm.  And it's interruptible, when it’s not. 

     MR. LESLIE:  So you're treating overrun and interruptible as being substitutes, are you?  Or synonymous?       

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes.  

     MR. LESLIE:  And I take it, from what you said earlier, that, to the extent that you're assuming some revenues from the South Tipperary field after 2007, you've also built in interruptible transportation costs to match those revenues, have you?  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes.  

     MR. LESLIE:  And that's all done on an overrun basis?  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes, it is.  

     MR. LESLIE:  Okay.  

     One other series of questions.  At Page 9 -- I'm sorry, page 13.  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Which exhibit? 

     MR. LESLIE:  It says Exhibit 4, “Revenues, Cash flows and Earnings-Base Case”, and then it says “Interruptible Service.”  It's Exhibit 9 too, I'm sorry.  Page 13.  And it's Exhibit 4, Projection 3, and it deals with interruptible service.  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  I believe I have that, yes.  

     MR. LESLIE:  And there you're showing, under “Expense”, Union M-16 transportation, and you've got a sets of numbers which are lower than the ones we just looked at.  And I take it those numbers are all based on the cost of interruptible or overrun service? 

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  That's correct.  

     MR. LESLIE:  And if Tipperary were to contract on this basis, that is to say -- well let me first ask you.  You don't currently have interruptible service with Union.  The contract contemplates firm service up to about 1.7 BCF and some overrun service.  We've already dealt with that, I believe.  So this would be a change from your existing contract with Union, to interruptible service.  Is that correct?  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  It would be.  It's not something we're contemplating.  It is something we were requested to file.  

     MR. LESLIE:  I see.  So you're not contemplating doing this.  It's just something you filed for completeness?       

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes.  

     MR. LESLIE:  My only question was, whether you would agree, or recognize, that if you did convert to interruptible service on this basis, that anyone who was prepared to contract for firm service would then take priority.  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Exactly.  And -- which is why we would not choose this route.  

     MR. LESLIE:  Okay.  Thank you, very much.  

     Those are my questions.  

     MR. BETTS:  Thank you, Mr. Leslie.  

     Other questions from intervenors?

     Mr. Thompson?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, Panel.  I have one question.  

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON: 

     MR. THOMPSON:  If you would assume, for a moment, the hypothesis that three things involved in any undertaking or project in Huron county are approval delays, technical delays and weather delays -- and this question may better be addressed, or even asked, in the next section -- given the possibility of approval delays, technical delays and weather delays -- like, for example, Ms. Lowrie made mention of January and February.  Well, we could have an early winter in December, which could put a kybosh on a lot of things.

     How would a combination of approval delays, technical delays and weather delays - insofar as it would restrict your ability to start injecting gas next April - affect your viability?  Or the viability of your business plan, I would phrase it that way.  

     MS. LOWRIE:  We have built a contingency into the project to cover delays.  If the delays are substantial, and we feel that we wouldn't - this would be Jack's call, as well - be injecting by July, it basically delays the project an entire year.  We've been delayed a year, now, because if you cannot start in a timely manner, we just won't start.  It will be April '07 injection.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  

     MR. BETTS:  Those are all your questions, Mr. Thompson? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

     MR. BETTS:  Are there any further questions from intervenors?  Mr. Gibson.


MR. GIBSON:  I just have a couple of questions directed to Ms. Lowrie.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. GIBSON:

MR. GIBSON:  Ms. Lowrie, you reviewed the project schedule. In the last hearing, there were a number of additional ‑‑ or revisions to the proposed terms and conditions, or conditions for approval by the Board.  One of them related to an assessment under section 7.1 of the CSA standards relative to risk assessment.  Where within the schedule would you contemplate that assessment being completed?


MS. LOWRIE:  The assessment should be completed within six weeks.


MR. GIBSON:  But where within the schedule that you have outlined?


MS. LOWRIE:  Our team is working on it now, so I would say within six weeks of today's date.


MR. GIBSON:  All right.  And one of the other conditions related to filing with the Board and the Ministry and all other interested parties' operations and maintenance procedure policy and the emergency response plan, I'm wondering where within that schedule that might be contemplated.


MS. LOWRIE:  Fortunately, that has been completed and they're working on additional portions.  Some of that information we need, the compressor details and detailed drawings of the site to finish.  We're working on whatever we can now, and, in fact, have several completed.


MR. GIBSON:  Okay.  So that would certainly be at least prior to the April 2006 ‑‑


MS. LOWRIE:  All of them will be complete prior to April '06.


MR. GIBSON:  All right, thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. BETTS:  Thank you, Mr. Gibson.  Are there any further questions?  Mr. Vegh.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. VEGH:

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, sir.  Panel, I would like to ask you questions about both the original business plan, which was at Exhibit 8.6, and then the revised business plan at Exhibit 9.2, so if you could have both of those handy.  


I notice, in providing the revisions, you provided revisions to certain schedules of the business plan, but there are no ‑- there were no revisions, say, to the text of the business plan or to other information in the business plan.  Is that because those haven't changed since November?


MS. LOWRIE:  That's correct.


MR. VEGH:  So the rest of the document is still current?


MS. LOWRIE:  Yes.


MR. VEGH:  And, Mr. Schoenmakers, I understand from the evidence this morning that you were not involved in drafting the original business plan, but you have been behind the scenes on this project for a while?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  That's correct.


MR. VEGH:  So did you understand the basic assumptions and economic modelling of the original business plan?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes.


MR. VEGH:  And you thought that those were plausible at the time that this plan was prepared?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes.


MR. VEGH:  And also, Mr. Schoenmakers, I understand from what you're saying that you will now be responsible to basically market the services from the business?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  That's correct.  We may hire additional staff to work with me, but for the time being, yes.


MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  So I would like to start with a comparison of the projections on the revenue side.  And the way I would like to do that is to first go to your original business plan, Exhibit 8.6, and I think I will be unpacking some of the points that you were making earlier in your examination in‑chief and also on questions from Mr. Leslie.  


So if we could go to the original business plan, Exhibit 8.6, and turn up page 5, there is a discussion around the base case of the north Tipperary pool economics.  Do you have that?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes, I do.


MR. VEGH:  And so this base case says that a base case value for single cycle operation with a revenue of 60 cents per MCF has been estimated for the north Tipperary gas storage pool.  And I will take you to Schedule 3 in a minute, but just at a high level, it goes on to say -- this document goes on to say:

"The base case was determined by reviewing the current market values in a context of the project team's experience."  


So do I understand it correctly to say that you looked at the current market values that were available, and then reviewed that in terms of or this light of your judgment and experience in the area?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Well, again, I wasn't involved in the specific derivation of the 60 cents or that earlier schedule.  I did update a new one, but, yes, they would have taken into account ‑‑ the NYMEX values are what they are.  There's really not much you can do to change them or make any assumptions about them.  The biggest assumption is in the basis differential, and, again, that's where they would have applied their business experience and expertise.


MR. VEGH:  And, Ms. Lowrie, you were involved in the original preparation of the business plan, I understand, so you may want to address this, as well.  My only point is that the NYMEX value will give you a snapshot picture, and then as you're projecting out over the life of this business plan, you will be applying your judgment and expertise as to what the ‑‑ how sustainable some of these differentials are?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Well, the difference being that we could, if we had a decision, lock in some of these values.  If we had the pool operating in the next six months or whatever the period, the time frame may be, we could fix those NYMEX values and, in fact, contract for those differentials, summer/winter spreads.  So we could lock them in for a period of time.


MR. VEGH:  But to get the revenues from potential customers, you would actually have to market to those customers and get them to buy in?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  That's correct.


MR. VEGH:  If they believed that today's prices were inordinately high, for example, they may not want to buy in for five years; isn't that right?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  That's not necessarily true.  I mean, a lot of these companies are in it to make money, and whether the storage valuation is 10 cents or whether it's $1.50, as long as they can make a margin in between, they will contract for it.  I know they're rather extremes, but it's true.  They're going to contract regardless of what the value of the storage is, because what they're looking for is a margin over and above that.  


So the true value may be -- you know, in realistic terms the true value may be 85 cents.  They're comfortable with a nickel margin and they will contract at 80 cents.


MR. VEGH:  But they would ‑‑ to enter into a long-term arrangement with you, they would have to be comfortable, wouldn't they, that entering into a long-term arrangement at this time makes sense versus, you know, waiting a bit to see if these differentials would come down?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  No.  I'm sorry, I disagree.  They would likely want to do it at any point in time as long as they can lock in the margin on both sides.


MR. VEGH:  If they could lock in the margin on both sides.  Would they perhaps have difficulty doing that, in terms of ‑‑ in light of uncertainty in the market?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  No.  We're talking, most of the people that I would contract with in this circumstance would be large, credit-worthy counterparties who would have no problem locking in the margins on both the -- fixed costs on both sides, the injection for the summer months and withdrawal for the ‑‑ the sale.  Essentially, what they're doing is buying summer gas, selling winter gas, and they are fixing those two pieces.  They would also lock in the basis differential through third parties, or they could do it on their own.


MR. VEGH:  Okay.  So why don't we go through this, go through this piece by piece, then, because I would like to talk about the 60 cent figure you had back in November and the figures that are being used now.


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Sure.


MR. VEGH:  So when I'm looking at the 60 cent figure back in November -- and I will get to Schedule 3 in a minute, but this description of how that figure was derived at at page 5 says that you reviewed current market values, and then you applied the project team's experience regarding a reasonable or historical range of values.  


So, Ms. Lowrie, I'm asking you, then, that you would look at the current market value, and then apply your judgment to see how sustainable that was?


MS. LOWRIE:  The November projection was based on the October 8th, 2004 NYMEX value.  If you ‑‑ Mr. Fisher's belief is that that is the historical value, 60 cents, and it will adjust to that over time.  I've spoken to a lot of people ‑‑ this is better for Mr. Schoenmakers to deal with.  I've spoken to a lot of people, and there are a lot of ‑‑ about this, and there are a lot of reasons that that 60 cent number may not, moving forward, be the number that should be used.


MR. VEGH:  Well, certainly in November you thought that this was the number that you should be ‑‑ that should be used.


MS. LOWRIE:  In November, that was the number.  If we had developed the storage in November, that's the number that we would have received for the storage.  That is why we went to the M16 hearing, and we had -- we were thinking of delaying the project for a year.  We do not question the long-term viability of the project, or the market.  We believe the M16 rate is too high.  And we are looking at building a pipeline to the TransCanada, to develop our 11 to 12 BCF of storage, and have interest in that project.  

     MR. VEGH:  So when I -- I understand that, when we look at the sixty cents back in November and why it is you accepted it. 

     If you would look at Exhibit 3, the original bid at Exhibit 8.6.  I will go through the details of how this bottom line number was arrived at.  But this produced a spread value of 64 cents Canadian and MCF.  Yet, when you prepared your base case, for the purposes of the calculation, and for the purposes of the description, you discounted that slightly, didn't you?  From 64 cents to 60 cents.  

     MS. LOWRIE:  Yes.  Mr. Fisher discounted it.  

     MR. VEGH:  And that was Mr. Fisher's -- well, and you were involved in the preparation of this document.  And you said that this was -- I guess, you said this was Mr. Fisher's appreciation of the sustainable price of this storage service.  

     MS. LOWRIE:  Yes.  On a zero-risk scenario.  

     MR. VEGH:  So you discounted it from 64 cents to 60 cents, applying your judgment and Mr. Fisher's judgment, that is, the organization's judgment, of what is sustainable? 

     MS. LOWRIE:  As a conservative approach.  The 60 cents is a zero-risk scenario.  If all of your gas is not sold, at one point in time, or locked in, basically, your risk is that it is sitting in inventory, which is where the optionality comes in. 

     MR. VEGH:  Well, this is a price you applied for the business case that you presented to the Board. 

     MS. LOWRIE:  Yes.  

     MR. VEGH:  And that discount of 64 cents to 60 cents, as I see it, is about 7 percent.  You would agree with that, subject to the -- subject to checking my calculations?      

     MS. LOWRIE:  Yes.  

     MR. VEGH:  Does this discount also reflect an expectation that the market would expect more of a discount from Tipperary than the pure NYMEX differential might produce?  

     MS. LOWRIE:  Yes.  It does.  Mr. Fisher and Mr. Francis called various parties for indicative bids, and found that we would receive a bit of a discount to what Union would get, if they went out and contracted storage.  

     MR. VEGH:  Okay.  And on this 60-cent figure, which was produced last November, I just wanted to ask you to refer to another document I provided to your counsel this morning.  It's an excerpt from the transcript of cross-examination in the recent Union M16 case, which was Board file number RP 2003-0063.  And I'm looking, specifically, at volume 1.  I provided an excerpt for your counsel this morning.  And Ms. Crnojacki will provide a set to the Panel. 

     I guess this will be Exhibit 9.3.  

EXHIBIT NO. 9.3:  EXCERPT FROM TRANSCRIPT OF CROSS-EXAMINATION OF MR. FISHER, TESTIFYING ON BEHALF OF INTERVENOR TIPPERARY GAS CORP. IN THE UNION M16 CASE, BEING BOARD FILE NO. RP 2003-0063. 

     MR. BETTS:  Thank you.  

     MR. VEGH:  And this evidence was provided -- Tipperary intervened in that case, that's correct?  

     MS. LOWRIE:  That's correct.  

     MR. VEGH:  And Tipperary provided evidence in that case? 

     MS. LOWRIE:  Yes.  

     MR. VEGH:  And that evidence was provided by Mr. Fisher, who was still somehow associated with the company?       

     MS. LOWRIE:  Yes.  

     MR. VEGH:  And he also provided evidence on the value of storage.  And the question arose around the 60-cent figure, because he referred to that again.  And I would like to take you, please, to question -- or, to page 179 -- 

     MR. BUDD:  Mr. Vegh, I'm not sure I have the same -- 

     MR. VEGH:  I gave you volume 2, and some excerpts from volume 2 and volume 1 this morning.  

     MR. BUDD:  I'm sorry. 

     MR. VEGH:  You should have volume 1.  

     MR. BUDD:  Just one moment, please.  

     I believe we have it.  

     MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  

     So I'm asking you about the 60-cent figure again.  And this evidence was provided in April -- April 12th of this year, which is about six weeks ago.  And at page 179, line 9, Mr. Fisher is giving evidence on behalf of Tipperary.  And I will just read it into the record.  He says: 

“Currently I can probably sell storage in Ontario for a dollar this summer, with this winter.  The following year it's 80 cents.  I can say that I've never seen storage values as high, and I don't believe they're going to be sustained.  But I could be completely wrong.  But right now, based on historical information, we believe that we'll be able to get 60 cents as a sort of starting point, and we hope to get better.”

     So, the evidence of Tipperary about six weeks ago, was that there was certainly a question about whether 80 cents was sustainable over the long term.  Is that fair?  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes.  

     MR. VEGH:  And so, as of April, Mr. Fisher, at least, was still relying on the 60-cent figure as a starting point.  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  I don't believe at that point Mr. Fisher had provided an update to Exhibit 3 of 8.6, or done calculations similar to what we provided on May 26th.  He was speaking from his historical reference points, or his experience in the marketplace.  

     MR. VEGH:  Yes.  So he is saying, currently, it is a dollar for this year, and the following year it’s 80 cents.  So he wasn't just referring back to what he believed back in November, but isn't he also referring to what is current, at the time of this evidence, which was April of this year?  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Right.  Sure.  

     MR. VEGH:  Pardon?  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes.  

     MR. VEGH:  So I would like to get a better understanding of this 60-cent figure, that was prepared back in November, and then reaffirmed in April.  And what I would like to do -- 

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Excuse me.  Excuse me.  I don't think he reaffirmed the 60 cents from an actual calculation.  He's just saying from his historical perspective.  Because I think we've provided an update to what that number is today -- well, as of May 26th.  So I'm not sure that he's saying there that 60 cents was actually updated in April.  

     MR. VEGH:  Oh, I see.  I didn't mean to suggest it was based on current NYMEX values.  It was based more on his historical judgment. 

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Thank you.  

     MR. VEGH:  And prior to you coming in, Mr. Schoenmakers, Mr. Fisher was giving quasi-expert evidence on the market in Ontario.       

MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Was he not qualified as an expert then?  

     MR. VEGH:  In the same way that you were.  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Okay.  

     MR. VEGH:  Sort of an expert with an interest.  

     So if I could ask you, then, about this 60-cent figure in particular, the calculations in Exhibit 3 and how they're - how they were carried out.  This is more to clarify and to unpack this a little bit for people like me, who aren't experts in the area.  

     So when you look at the components here -- we're looking at a season that is an injection season of, basically, a summer season, May to October.  Then a withdrawal over the winter season, November to March.  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes.  

     MR. VEGH:  And the term is for the ‘06-‘07 year.  And could you just provide a little more detail on how this NYMEX differential is found?  Is this a posted seasonal price?  Is this an average of daily prices, or monthly prices?  Could you tell me where these numbers would come from?  What is the methodology to produce the 605 and the 664? 

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Basically, you would look at the months of May through October.  For the close of business on, in this case, October 8th, they're published.  They would have traded that day, and they would have settled at those prices, those seven winter months -- or, sorry, summer months.  And you would average them.  And that's how you would arrive at the 605.  

     MR. VEGH:  So this is the average price?  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  It's the average of those seven winter 

-- or, summer months.

     MR. VEGH:  And the withdrawal price?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  It would be the same over the five‑month winter period.


MR. VEGH:  And then there is no Dawn basis -- well, there is a Dawn basis price of 25 cents, but there is no Dawn basis differentials?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  You mean that comes from a public forum or some sort of ‑‑


MR. VEGH:  I'm going back to Exhibit 3 here.  In this sample, there is no Dawn basis differential.


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Oh, between winter and summer?


MR. VEGH:  Yes, sorry.


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes, there is no difference in that.


MR. VEGH:  And so then when we look at the -- to come to the spread value, you basically look at the -- in this case, it's commodity.  It is all commodity, I guess.  You look at the difference between the summer and the winter price.  That gives you a difference in US currency per million BTU, and you look at your carrying cost.  You apply the currency conversion, convert it to MCF, and that is how you ended up with the ‑‑ that's how the company ended up with the 64 cent figure reflecting the market bid at that time.  And then you applied your judgment, the company's judgment, and discounted that to around 60 cents; is that right?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  I believe that's correct, yes, not having been directly involved in those discussions, but I believe they discounted it 6.2 percent.


MR. VEGH:  Right.  And, Ms. Lowrie, you were involved, so is that correct?


MS. LOWRIE:  That is correct.


MR. VEGH:  And then you take that figure of 60 cents, and when we turn to Exhibit 4, which sets out the revenues, cash flows and earnings, you basically apply that 60 cents, you multiply that 60 cents times a volume of 1.8 BCF, and that produces the figure in the north Tipperary revenue line; is that correct?


MS. LOWRIE:  That is correct.


MR. VEGH:  That, my ‑‑ I don't know if anything turns on this, and I don't think it does, but my math actually produces a slightly different number.  Instead of 1086, it is 1080.


MS. LOWRIE:  It's actually 1.81 BCF, the north Tip.


MR. VEGH:  And does that account for the difference of 1080 and 1086?


MS. LOWRIE:  Yes.


MR. VEGH:  It's 8.1 BCF, okay.  Thank you.


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Sorry, 1.8.


MS. LOWRIE:  1.81 BCF.


MR. VEGH:  Sorry, say again.


MS. LOWRIE:  1.81 BCF.


MR. VEGH:  Right.  Thank you.


MS. LOWRIE:  Is the projected size of the pool.


MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  So when you're deriving this figure, this revenue figure, you've assumed that all of the capacity in the pool will be sold basically on -- as of day 1 of the operations?


MS. LOWRIE:  This assumes a base case, yes, assuming 

-- well, assuming all the capacity is sold.  We can't sell what is not firm capacity, but this makes the assumption that we're going to receive the 60 cents for that, which is the average market.


MR. VEGH:  So you will receive 60 cents for all of your capacity?


MS. LOWRIE:  That's correct.


MR. VEGH:  Now, Tipperary has gone through an open season to determine the level of interest in the service, and do you recall that open season process?


MS. LOWRIE:  We did not conduct a formal open season process.


MR. VEGH:  You conducted an open season to determine the level of -- the level of interest, as opposed to ‑‑


MS. LOWRIE:  We were going to conduct an open season.  We found that people -- we really need to have designation to conduct a formal open season, because how can you ‑‑ we would have been conducting an open season for April '05.  We do not have regulatory approval.


MR. VEGH:  Well, were you looking at the ‑‑ before developing, were you looking at developing -- before the development of the pool, that is, before the regulatory approval, were you looking at having contracts in place to support these revenues?


MS. LOWRIE:  We will have contracts in place after we receive the regulatory approval.


MR. VEGH:  But so far you don't have any contracts in place?


MS. LOWRIE:  No.  We have indications of interest.  Everyone ‑‑ the comments are, When are you going to get the regulatory approval?  We have a number of expressions of interest.


MR. VEGH:  But this -- this assumes that not only will you have sort of -- your service will be fully subscribed in your first year, in 2006, but it will remain that way going out to 2010?


MS. LOWRIE:  This assumes the 60 cents for that, that we'll receive an average of that price, whether it's fully subscribed or not.


MR. VEGH:  Well, an average of that price for all of your ‑‑


MS. LOWRIE:  For all of the storage that -- yes.  It assumes that we will cycle the entire volume in a year.


MR. VEGH:  Right.  So you haven't built in -- you haven't discounted that at all and assumed that, you know, perhaps you won't be able to market all of your services in that year?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  With the level of interest that we have seen, I don't think that would be the case.


MR. VEGH:  So this is a slam dunk?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  I wouldn't say it's a slam dunk.  We're still waiting here.


MR. VEGH:  If you get the approval, it's a slam dunk to market all of the capacity that you have?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  And then some, yes.


MR. VEGH:  Though it is -- when you call it a base case scenario, in terms of the market development, it's also the most optimistic scenario, isn't it?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  No.  I would say it's relatively conservative, in the sense that it doesn't include any other optionality that we might be able to capture in the marketplace.


MR. VEGH:  It's optimistic -- I guess it is optimistic in the sense that you have full subscription for all of your space?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  No.  I think it is realistic.


MR. VEGH:  And the service that you're offering to customers is for injection and withdrawal at Dawn; right?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  I'm sorry.


MR. VEGH:  Injection and withdrawal at Dawn; right?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. VEGH:  And Tipperary is responsible for transporting the gas from Dawn to the Tipperary pool for injection, and then transporting the gas from the Tipperary pool to Dawn for withdrawal?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes.


MR. VEGH:  And so, again, looking at the volumes assumed here - and you talked a bit about this with Mr. Leslie, but I would like to unpack it a bit more - you're assuming that you can receive the full 1.8 BCF in injection season and deliver the full 1.8 BCF in withdrawal season; that's deliver and receive from Dawn?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  That's correct.


MR. VEGH:  So -- and this is all on a ‑‑ this is assuming, again, that you are fully subscribed, so you're providing this on a firm basis.  You're saying to the customers you can provide this full amount on a firm basis?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  I believe that there will be a small component that would be interruptible and we may need to contract for that smaller portion on an uninterruptible basis, because we want to make sure that we're managing this in a very prudent manner.  But we would contract for whatever firm portion we have, with an M16 contract and whatever portions interruptible will be contracted for on an interruptible basis, or we would try to make arrangements with Union to firm up as much as we can in addition to what available capacity we have at the various pools.


MR. VEGH:  So when you're ‑‑ this 60 cent figure ‑‑ we will get to how it is adjusted later, but this 60 cent figure is on the assumption that you can actually receive delivery and provide ‑‑ and provide delivery at Dawn?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes.  We would receive volumes at Dawn and redeliver at Dawn.


MR. VEGH:  On a firm basis?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes.


MR. VEGH:  So I would like to ask you some questions, then, about your M16 contract.  I think you might have went through these figures with Mr. Leslie already, and I'm at a bit of a disadvantage, because I forgot my calculator upstairs.  But when I look at the prices you've put in here for your M16 transport, these are all -- I took this calculation to be that these were all at the -- what your then expectation was of a firm service rate of 75 cents, 75 cents MCF.  Then you multiplied that by the 1.8 BCF, and that gave you your ‑‑ these numbers?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  If you can bear with me for one moment.


MR. VEGH:  Sure.


MR. BETTS:  Mr. Vegh, while the witness is contemplating that, can you find an appropriate time in your cross‑examination, if you still have some left, to find us a break?


MR. VEGH:  Well, this is an appropriate time and I can get my calculator to confirm my math.


MR. BETTS:  I think, then, it is an appropriate break, certainly from the panel's point of view.  So we will take a break and return here, let's aim -- let's aim at the half hour, so we will be back at 11:30. 

‑‑‑ Recess taken at 11:06 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:35 a.m. 

     MR. BETTS:  Thank you, everybody.  Please be seated.  

     I saw everybody deliberating at the back of the room.  That's usually a good sign to the Panel.  A lot gets done in these breaks.  So keep up the good work. 

     Mr. Vegh, we interrupted your cross-examination. 

     Before we go back to that, are there any preliminary matters that have arisen during the break?  There appear to be none. 

     Mr. Vegh, please continue.  

     MR. VEGH:  Thank you. 

     Panel, when we broke off, I was going to ask you some questions about calculation of transportation costs, but I think I will defer that to the revised business case.  Since the transportation rates now are known -- now are clear, and we don't really have to concern ourselves with what the old assumptions were, anyway. 

     So I'm going to turn just -- I'm going to finish, for the moment, with Exhibit 4, and ask you just a question around Exhibit 5 to your original business plan, at 8.6.  

     And I know that the -- I just turn you to the part where there are entries for additional earnings, though I know that those additional earnings are confidential, and we may get to that in a part of the proceeding that is in camera.  

     But just for the record, now, I want to identify that there is an exhibit identifying additional revenues for the operations, and to discuss a bit of the text of the business plan that describes those revenues, so that we could have this on the public record.  And the business plan defines those revenues starting at page 5, at the end of Exhibit 8.6, under the heading "Upside Benefits.”  These are the upside benefits that are identified in Exhibit 5 to the business plan?  

     MS. LOWRIE:  Yes.  

     MR. VEGH:  Sorry you have to -- 

     MS. LOWRIE:  That's correct. 

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes.  

     MR. VEGH:  And the statement here says that, at exhibit -- sorry, page 5, where you say:

“There is insufficient information to predict or conclude with certainty actual pool economic performance.”

     And then you give some details around what is difficult to predict.  And, basically, it concludes that you cannot know for certainty whether or not this upside will be identified until there is experience with the pool.  Is that a fair characterization?       

     MS. LOWRIE:  That is correct.  Experience with the pool and with the well drilled.  You can manage that, to some extent, by drilling a second well into the reservoir, which is why we have negotiated with the landowners room for three wells.  

     MR. VEGH:  And then, at page 6, underneath the redacted version, the report says that:

“Again, it will be necessary to operate the storage pools through a couple of seasons to confirm what, if any, upside results are achievable.”

     So when you say “a couple of seasons”, that's a couple of injection and withdrawal seasons?

     MS. LOWRIE:  Yes. 

     MR. VEGH:  So that's a couple of years, maybe? 

     MS. LOWRIE:  Yes.  

     MR. VEGH:  So any prices are somewhat -- any prices or benefits -- economic benefits are somewhat speculative at this time, aren't they?       

     MS. LOWRIE:  Any upside benefits?  

     MR. VEGH:  Yes.  

     MS. LOWRIE:  I believe there will be some upside benefits, but it's difficult to say what they will be.  

     MR. VEGH:  But we don't know whether they will materialize, or not.  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  From a market perspective, I think those, the marketing opportunities -- or the marketing of those types of opportunities will present themselves.  I mean, they happen on a daily basis.  When you’re delivering gas to Dawn, and you're able to purchase gas at a cheaper price than what it's going out at - so that you can leave gas in the ground, so to speak - those types of opportunities present themselves on a daily basis.  

     So those can be -- there's a little bit more certainty with those type of instances.  The ones where you can achieve a 90-day withdrawal capability, yes, they're somewhat more speculative, because they become more realizable once of the operating parameters of the pool, as well as the operating parameters on the Union line -- the distribution line that serves that area. 

     MR. VEGH:  Well, the benefits you’ve identified in the plan -- your own description of them, is that it's necessary to operate the pools through a couple of seasons to confirm whether any upside benefits are achievable.  Isn't that fair?       

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  No.  I tend to disagree, in the sense that the 90-day withdrawal capability and creating some option value, those are less certain, and we would want the one or two seasons, or whatever it may be, to show what the operating capabilities are, to be able to realize those.  But some of those other third-party balancing fees, and those sales during market upsets, they may be available in any event.  

     MR. VEGH:  So then maybe I’ll ask you the details around the specifics of them when we go in camera, because a lot of that has been marked out.  I was just referring to the general proposition in the business plan.  

     And I appreciate, Mr. Schoenmakers, that you weren't involved in the preparation of the business plan, and it may be that Mr. Fisher was more conservative than you.  But Ms. Lowrie, you were involved in the business plan, and isn't it fair to say that the conclusion from the initial business plan is simply that you don't know whether these upside benefits will materialize, or not?  And you won't know that for a couple of years, until you've had experience with the operation of the pool?  

     MS. LOWRIE:  That is correct.  I believe that we'll achieve upside benefits, but if I'm doing -- if I am going to put money into something, I look at the worst-case scenario.  So I -- and if I want to proceed, based on the worst-case scenario, then I make my decision based on that.  These all -- these values -- you look at the worst case scenario and then there are upside benefits, being this and additional benefits that we have discussed with the -- with this pool, that make you want to develop -- willing to develop the project, even with marginal returns on the initial portion of the project.  

     MR. VEGH:  And that's the -- I guess that's the risk element that goes into this, identifying those potential upsides.  But, for the purposes of this Board, looking at this evidence for the business case that you are putting forward, it's difficult, isn't it, to speculate on the financial value of these upside benefits, given that your own evidence is that these may or may not materialize.  

     MS. LOWRIE:  That's correct.  

     MR. VEGH:  Now, I would like to turn to your recent projections.  That's Exhibit X9.2, where you have an update of some of the schedules, in light of the changes that you referred to earlier.  And, in particular, I believe that these -- this update was provided as a result of Board Staff's request, following the Board's decision in the M16 rates case. 

     MS. LOWRIE:  That's correct.  

     MR. VEGH:  So if we -- we'll keep the old schedules, for comparative purposes, in the initial business case.  So I’ll ask you to continue to hold on to Exhibit 4, with the revenues of Exhibit 8.6.  And -- but I will ask you, also, to compare -- or to have available the new Exhibit 4 with the revenues, cash flow and earnings in Exhibit 9.2.  That's the business plan that's being revised on May 26th, 2005.  

     And I won't refer to any of the details of the confidential information, but it's fair to say, isn't it, that the only real material changes to the new projection, number 2, and the old Exhibit number 4, is an increase in the revenues for both the north and the south pools and, an increase in the M-16 transportation costs?  

     MS. LOWRIE:  Yes.  

     MR. VEGH:  And so we'll look at these components, and each of those, in some more detail in a moment. 

     But just to put a number on it, as I see it, in summary, for the year 2006, the basic difference is that the top line - that is, revenues for the North Tipperary pool - have increased by around $470,000, while the costs of M-16 transportation has increased by about $137,000, so that there is a net gain of about $334,000 in the new Exhibit 4.  

     MS. LOWRIE:  Yes.  

     MR. VEGH:  Now, the actual bottom line numbers for both of these schedules are confidential.  So, without revealing the specific numbers, I just wanted to explore with you some of the ramifications to the changes in this document.  For the moment, I just want to leave aside the increased revenues.  I will ask you about that.  I just want to focus for a minute on the increase in the M16 costs, the increase in the M16 transportation costs, and the impact that that has on the business case here.  


And, again, without identifying the content of the bottom line, I'm looking at the bottom line because it's the -- sorry.  The cash available for distribution and EBITDA for total capital invested, that effectively sets out what is the profitability of this operation, right?


MS. LOWRIE:  Yes.


MR. VEGH:  So if we leave aside the revenue numbers and all we had -- if the only difference between the initial base case and the revised base case is a result of the M16 decision, if that were the only difference, then the cash available for distribution would decrease by the amount of the M16 increase, which is around $137,000; right?


MS. LOWRIE:  Yes.  There are some other minor changes, as well.


MR. VEGH:  But they're pretty minor.  So what I'm asking you, then, is, without saying what the financial impact would be simply by the ‑‑ on the bottom line would be simply by the decrease in profitability of $137,000, my question for you, if that ‑‑ for you is:  If that were the only change - that is, if we leave aside the revenue increase, the projected revenue increase, if that were the only change, that is the increase of the M16 cost - would this be a viable business?


MS. LOWRIE:  If we received 60 cents for storage on an ongoing basis, it would be very, very marginal.


MR. VEGH:  Would you consider it to be a viable business?


MS. LOWRIE:  As a stand‑alone business, I wouldn't develop it.  As the first pool in a series of pools to be developed, that becomes a different matter.


MR. VEGH:  So it's fair to say then that, as a result of that, the real impact here -- when the Board is looking at the viability of the business plan, the real issue here is on the viability of these increased revenue numbers; is that fair?


MS. LOWRIE:  Viability of the increased revenue numbers, what the current market numbers are, I believe that people are willing to put up their money to develop something.  This is not a promoted deal.  This is ‑‑ people are putting up their own money.  Business people evaluate the risks and the upside potential, and if they're willing to put their money into it, it's because they believe the number will not be 60 cents and they're willing to take that risk with their own money.


MR. VEGH:  Right.  But that's what this really turns on, right, whether you could say this 60 cents number should be ‑‑ should be higher; that is, if increased revenue numbers are the appropriate numbers?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Sorry, Jane, if I can say something here, I think there is more than the 60 cents in the original business plan, and I don't think it only hangs on the 60 cents.  From a business perspective, I think there is some real potential for the revenues, the upside potential.  I think those things can't be totally thrown out or discounted, in the sense that they will be realizable.  


So from my personal business perspective, at 60 cents I think it is still a viable project, because I think the upside benefits will be there and I would want to go ahead with the project, personally, because I have contracted for and traded in storage values, and I know what's available in the marketplace and I think that this is a very viable project on its own.  


But I also believe that the bigger project down the road makes more sense, as well as the fact that the M16 rate that we're using here, while it is in place at this current time, there is a good chance that it will be changed in the future, or there is a chance.  How good it is, I guess I shouldn't be able to say, but I'm hopeful that it can be changed.


MR. VEGH:  But in terms of the ‑‑ I understand what you're saying about the upside revenues, and we've talked about ‑‑ we've talked about that.  What I'm trying to do is focus in on what's key here when we look at the business case.  And the proposition that I'm putting to you, the business case, based on this base case scenario ‑‑ leave aside the upside for now, but just on this base case scenario, my question for you is:  On this base case scenario, if the only thing that had changed from November 2006  -- if the market hadn't changed, right, so if the only thing that were changed was that we now have the new M16 rate, is this a viable business on the base case?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  From my perspective, yes.  I would still go ahead with it.


MS. LOWRIE:  Because you believe in the upside.


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Mm‑hmm.


MR. VEGH:  I'm sorry?


MS. LOWRIE:  Because he believes in the upside.  This is a base-case, worst-case scenario, really.


MR. VEGH:  So then it sounds like it turns on the belief in the upside?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Well, it does and it doesn't.  I can't put my blinders on and say that the base case is the only case.  It is when you want to look at a worst case and none of these other things can be proved up, and I truly believe they can be.  I mean, from an operational perspective, I can't -- you know, there's issues that still need to be resolved and I can't speak to the engineering aspects of that, but from a market point of view, I truly feel that it is viable.


MR. VEGH:  Okay.  But even ‑‑ so that is fair and that's -- I take your comments.  But with all of that, we've really got to look, don't we, at the new revenue assumptions, because one way or another that has a major impact on viability?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  It certainly does, as does the fact that we're sitting here today in a hearing when I could be out marketing that storage, and, if I had a favourable decision, I could have a contract in a short period of time to lock in the values that we have that were updated for a five-year period, which means it's more viable than the 60 cent case, because the 60 cent case isn't there anymore.  


What is there before us right now is what the value of storage has in the marketplace today.  Today, it has a value of somewhere upwards of 80 cents in the first year, and it declines slightly after that.


MR. VEGH:  So let's then talk about the value of the storage service today and on a going-forward basis.  So that requires looking at Exhibit 3 and a comparison of the two spread values in Exhibit 3.  Again, just as a reminder, how I understand this works is, when looking at the previous Exhibit 3, you explained how you determined the spread value, and then we multiplied, effectively, that spread value by the capacity of the pool to create the top line revenue figure.  


Now we're looking, again, at a new spread value or an updated value as of May 26th, '05.  And, again, just to put on the record and to make clear how this comparison works, we're looking at the same term, that's right, May to October '06 and November to March '07?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  That's correct.


MR. VEGH:  And so the spread values are identified over the same period.  And in terms of identifying these numbers, the 681 and the 759, for the injection and the withdrawal, respectively, did you follow the same methodology as was followed in the earlier exhibit that we talked about, which was to look at an average of the seven monthly prices?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. VEGH:  And so having gone through that, we see from a commodity perspective the ‑‑ sorry, from a total perspective, the spread value has increased from 64 cents MCF and the original ‑‑ looking at the bottom lines now, 64 cents MCF in the original Exhibit 3, to 92 cents, and that's about a 44 percent increase; is that right?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  I'd have to calculate the percentage increase, but the 92 to the 64 is definitely ‑‑ 64 to 92 is definitely correct.


MR. VEGH:  Right.  And so looking at the components, then, the NYMEX differential, we've talked about that.  And there seem to be two components of this differential now.  One is the NYMEX values and the other is the Dawn basis.  And to look at the components from a commodity perspective, that is the NYMEX seems to have increased 19 cents, or the spread is now -- has now increased 19 cents from May, what the ‑‑ sorry, the spread in May is 19 cents, I think more than the spread was in November. 

     But what I really want to ask you about, more, was the Dawn line, because -- we talked about this earlier.  There isn't a Dawn-basis seasonal differential in the initial Exhibit 3, but we now have one of about 4 cents.  

     So could you explain why there wasn't a Dawn differential in November and there is one, now, in your calculations?  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  I can't really speak to why there wasn’t a differential in the earlier exhibit.  I can only speak to what I prepared, which is the 4 cent differential.  

     Historically, there has been a differential between the summer- and the winter-basis at Dawn.  And it varies by month.  And it is something that varies with supply-demand factors that are specific to the Dawn hub.  

     And for whatever reason, I think Mr. Fisher was being somewhat conservative and kept it flat, the summer- versus winter-basis differential.  If you look at specific periods of time in the past, it's gone flat in the summertime at Dawn.  In other words, it's zero.  And it's been as high as 80 cents in the winter.  So it's something that fluctuates quite dramatically, at times, depending on the volatility in the marketplace and, again, those supply-demand factors that -- at Dawn. 

     And a lot of that hinges on Union's operations, when they're interrupting or when they’re -- you know, we're reaching late in the winter withdrawal cycle, those basis differentials tend to spread out quite a bit. 

     And, again, what I did to update those numbers was, I canvassed the market and I found that the 4 cent differential between summer-winter was there, when I with a looking at those market prices.  

     MR. VEGH:  Okay.  So you're saying nothing is really changed since the initial report, but that this is a more sophisticated analysis?  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  I'm not sure sophisticated is the right word, but it's different.  

     MR. VEGH:  Well you're saying it’s better -- it's the one the Board should be using?  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes.  

     MR. VEGH:  And then we -- again, we do the same thing.  We take this -- well, this produces a spread of 92 cents at MCF.  But you didn't actually use that 92-cent figure as a -- when I look at your projection number 2:  can you explain how you use, then, the spread value to create a revenue line?  First, with the North Tipperary.  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  This was an indication of what the spread value was, based on our analysis.  For the purposes of calculating the market -- there is a market bid. I went to the market and canvassed some parties, and used the values that I was given in that market bid. 

     If you look at -- I have to flip through here -- there's a NYMEX case --

     MR. VEGH:  Right.

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  -- which is Exhibit 4, projection number 4, that is part of package 9.2.  And that's where we would have taken that spread calculation and applied it. 

     Again, we show that as an indicative case.  It is not really something that I would feel comfortable using for the economics of this case, because we had something that was very real in the marketplace.  This was an indication, and it supported the bid that we got in the first year from the market.  It was in line with that.  And then we applied the market bid in Exhibit 4, projection number 2, market bid, with the -- applying the firm M-16 service. 

     MR. VEGH:  So the projection -- going back to projection number 4, then, which is a NYMEX current value, that's applying the 92 cents price that we talked about? 

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes, yes.  

     MR. VEGH:  And then the -- comparing that to projection number 2, the market bid, you discounted that NYMEX value?       

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  No, I wouldn't say I discounted it.  I went to the market to find out what they would pay for storage, and I used that number, because it was a very real bid.  I could contract on that basis. 

     MR. VEGH:  And just as when we looked at the initial Exhibit 3, there was -- I think the actual NYMEX price was 64 cents, but then you ended up with a 60 cent figure, because -- you may not like the word “discount”, but there is a bit of -- it’s a little reduced anyway --

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Well --

     MR. VEGH:  -- the actual market bid, from the NYMEX. 

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  -- if I can characterize it in -- something that I fully understand is, when you go out to market to try to contract, someone's willing to bid what they are for storage, or gas, for that matter.  And there's an offer.  And there's a spread between the two.  And what typically happens is you use the mid-point, if you're looking at a forward valuation.

     But when you come to contract, you may end up somewhere lower than that, higher than that, depending on what the market dynamics are at the time.  If it's a strong, sort of, demand case, if you will, that there's a lot of demand out there, you’ll tend to be closer to the offer-side of the market.  If supply is ample and there is a lot of sellers, you will be closer to the bid-side of the market.  

     So you can characterize it as a discount.  I think it is just a spread between the bid and offering, and, depending on what the market dynamics are, you will end up somewhere in between those two values. 

     MR. VEGH:  Okay, so -- that's fair.  I don't want to use the term “discount” incorrectly.  

     But if we look at the market price that you're talking about for 2006 in your market-bid scenario, here, it's less than 92 cents.  That's why this number -- that's why the number of 1557 is lower than the number of 1665?  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  That's correct. 

     MR. VEGH:  And it’s just a matter of simple mathematics, isn't it, to come up with what this number is.  We know what it looks like at 60 cents:  it was the old number of 108?      

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  1810. 

     MR. VEGH:  Yeah.  And so, when we look at projection number 2, and we see these prices from '06 to ‘010:  1557, 1357, 1321, 1339, 1267, that's a series of reduced prices over the course of -- reduced unit prices over the course of -- 

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  It's the difference in the valuation of storage at present versus what it is in those particular years.  And again, what’s looked at is the NYMEX values -- the NYMEX trades up to 2010.   And you can quickly do the same calculation on a year-by-year basis, and apply that Dawn-basis differential, and come up with a number.  

     MS. LOWRIE:  Can I just clarify something?  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Mm-hmm. 

     MS. LOWRIE:  Exhibit 3 was used to prepare the two NYMEX bids.  The NYMEX bids are a snapshot in time, based on the market on that day -- what you could receive from the market on that day.  

     Mr. Fisher discounted it to the 60 cents because he believes that's the historical value, moving forward, from trading storage that you could get.  

     The market currently disagrees with Mr. Fisher.  

     We prepared another -- the market bid, which -- the only relationship to NYMEX is that -- the buying and selling, as Mr. Schoenmakers talks about.  It really was an informal open-market season bid.  If we lock-in today, or if we could -- if we had designation today, we could get someone to lock-in for five years at those values.  

     So they do not agree with Mr. Fisher’s valuation of storage, or sixty cents 

     MR. VEGH:  Well, there certainly is a difference between the valuation of storage represented on Exhibit -- the new Exhibit 4 and the old Exhibit 4.  

     And just to quantify that difference, as I see it - and you can correct me if I'm wrong - going from November -- in the November projection, the revenues expected were 1086.  They're now at 557.  I -- that looks like about a 43 percent increase to me.  From 2007, from 1086, in the initial bid, to 1357:  that's around 25 percent, again, from November.  

     Going out to '08-‘09, I think I have it at -- sorry, 1086 to, now, 1321:  I think that’s 22 percent.  The next year, to '09, is 23 percent.  And then the final year, to 2011, is 17 percent.  

     Does this suggest -- this suggests, to me, at least, being not an expert in the market, that there has been some kind of fundamental change in the last six months; doesn't it suggest that?  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  That's, I believe, exactly what's taking place.  We've had an increase in the -- in NYMEX values, and as such there's been more volatility.  There's more volatility between summer values and winter values. There's supply demand factors that are impacting all of those things.  There's oil prices have increased.  All of those things come into play here, and there has been a fundamental change in the gas marketplace.  I mean, we've had it several times over the past 15 years, and it looks like we keep trending up with increased volatility and this is what this is showing.  


And so -- which is why I don't believe the 60 cents is a realistic number any longer.  It is going to be something higher than that.  Will it be a dollar?  At some point in time it may be that.  Right now, the market is telling us it's -- for the current year or the current injection cycle that we're looking at, which is April of next year, it's in excess of 80 cents.  And it's trending back down, but as we get closer to those years, it could trend right up to the 80 cents and beyond it.  So there's been a fundamental change in the marketplace.


MS. LOWRIE:  These are the soft values of storage that we looked at when we started to develop Tipperary.  We did not believe it would stay at the 60 cents, given the increased volatility.  Ontario is going off coal.  Gas prices have doubled.  We considered all of these originally when we started to develop Tipperary and the larger project.  


It's hard to quantify.  You always want to look at the worst case, which is the 60 cents, but we believed that the project is viable and are willing to put our own money into it.


MR. VEGH:  But, Ms. Lowrie, to be fair, when you came forward last November with your 60 cents, that was based on what you saw market prices at that time.  You didn't come forward and say, This is worst case.  Realistically, this is 80 cents or a dollar.


MS. LOWRIE:  No, that was the market price on October 8th, Mr. Fisher prepared.


MR. VEGH:  Yes.  Now we have a market price in May which is fundamentally different, and I guess the question is:  How ‑‑ the question becomes, you know, whether it is realistic to consider this sustainable over this period.  Certainly Mr. Fisher, back in April, six weeks ago, didn't think it was realistic.  We've been through that before.  


So when you talk about there being a fundamental shift, is there anything objective you could point to out there that would give a basis to conclude that there's been a fundamental shift since last November at a time where your business plan already talks about volatility and increased reliance on gas‑fired generation and gas prices are going up?  This is a fairly recent piece of evidence you produced back in November.  


So what is -- can you point to something that is fundamentally different between November and May that would suggest that, looking five years out, the future of this market has fundamentally changed?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  If I go to the market and ask them to value storage, I get these numbers.  That, to me, indicates that there's been a fundamental shift.  We're not trying to manufacture numbers or say that it's our personal opinion that these things are going to a dollar.  We're reacting to what the market is doing.  


What's driving those fundamental factors?  There's a variety of them.  I think gas-fired generation is one of the biggest ones.  There was an announcement yesterday that two new co-gens were approved and will be built in Mississauga, which will eat up a lot of gas volumes, and that creates more volatility on the system.  They're being put into places where, my understanding is, anyway, that there are pipeline constraints.  So they're going to need to rely on storage to be able to feed those -- some of the ‑‑ they will be relying on storage for a portion of their needs.  That creates more volatility in the storage market and in the valuation at Dawn of what storage is worth.  


There's a number of other factors.  I mean, oil prices have been very volatile and, again, that -- gas tends to track oil.  It doesn't always, because it has its own set of supply and demand factors, but when it does, it can move, you know, day to day.  It can move very dramatically, according to what interruptible gas users are using, because they can switch between oil and gas.  


There's a number of other factors that are starting to come into play and that's just, you know, pipeline constraints at times during the winter.  I mean, those are very fundamental shifts -- or, I mean, sorry, those have been factors that have been in place for some time.  


The other thing to consider is that with this gas-fired generation for electricity, we're moving closer towards a twin peaking gas market, where we'll have peak gas requirements in the summertime as opposed to the winter, and that creates more optionality, more value for storage.


MR. VEGH:  Does it also -- by this double peak, does it also create less of a seasonal spread between winter and summer, given that gas‑fired generation, as you said, peaks in winter?  So while the optionality may be increased, perhaps the seasonal spread may decrease; is that not fair?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  I don't necessarily agree, because the factors that impact the winter pricing of gas are basically the peak winter demand of weather, and we're always factoring in the fact that ‑‑ um..., weather has the greatest impact on storage volumes at present, because it draws ‑‑ we draw -- and I forget the percentage, but it is quite a high percentage of our gas requirements for Ontario and further east from Union and Enbridge's storage in and around the Dawn area. 


So I think that spread valuation will always be there.  What it provides is greater value for those optionality periods, because if we can inject greater volumes during the shoulder periods, which would be the spring and the fall, we can create ‑‑ we can capture greater optionality, because we can cycle it twice.


MR. VEGH:  Not to make ‑‑ not to get into too much of a debate about this, because we will see what happens once the generators are here, but as I understood your explanation of how we're valuing storage, it's the price, you know, the different price between an injection period and a withdrawal period.  But if you are describing a scenario where you really have two withdrawal periods that are seasonal, then doesn't that take away the premise of the value of storage increasing because of the seasonal spread increasing?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Not necessarily.  It depends how high the peak needs are in the summertimes than they are in the winter.  As I was saying, the ‑‑ I still think the winter peak needs are going to be higher than the summer peak and that will create that value.


MR. VEGH:  Okay.  I wanted to ask you some questions around the transportation costs now.  This is what I was going to ask you in the original context, but I deferred.  Looking at your projection number 2 again, your base case in Exhibit 9.2, that's the current one.  I think you have said this already, but just to confirm, the declining revenues from 2006 to 2010, that reflects a declining value in the service, not a declining volume; is that right?  The volumes are the same?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  That's correct.


MR. VEGH:  Now, and that's 1.81 BCF.  We've talked about that.


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes.


MR. VEGH:  Now -- and these revenues are all on the assumption of the sales of those volumes, but I wanted to ask you about your transportation arrangements with Union and how that might have an impact both on those revenues, and then when we get into your Union M16 transportation costs.  


And, Mr. Schoenmakers, I think Mr. Leslie asked you this question earlier, but just to set it up, I believe that your transportation contract with Union provides you with a firm injection of around 1.7 BCF a year and firm withdrawal of around 1.4 BCF a year?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  I'm just going to use my calculator for a moment.  I believe your numbers were 1.4 for withdrawal and 1.7 for injection?


MR. VEGH:  Yes.


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  That's correct.


MR. VEGH:  So there's a bit of a shortfall, then, in terms of the ‑‑ your contractual arrangement, your firm contractual arrangement with Union, and the volumes that you're talking about selling here from north Tipperary, because the volumes you're talking about are 1.8, while if we just looked first on the injection side, you have slightly less than that locked up in firm transportation with Union.  And so -- and on the withdrawal side, it's more dramatic.  It is a difference of 1.4 BCF to 1.8 BCF.  


So does that, then, not have an impact on the revenues that you can expect for your services, because presumably you're only providing firm services where you have firm transportation, as well.


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  We also have a balancing service with Union at Dawn where we're able to withdraw from their pooled assets at Dawn, and then reinject at a later date, when we're able to use the interruptible service that's available on that line.  So there will be an ability to meet those needs.


MR. VEGH:  But you have ‑‑ so you're saying you have a firm entitlement now to be able to provide a firm service, to provide your own firm service for 1.8 BCF?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  No.  What I'm saying is we have a service that's included with the M16 contract that's called balancing service at Dawn, where, if our volumes that we're delivering at Dawn don't equal the volumes that we're taking out of storage, out of our facility, Union will make up the difference and on the days that we can reverse that, where our volumes out of storage are greater than what they are for market, we will -- we'll replace those volumes, if you will.  And that balancing service is interruptible.  


However, the interruptibility of that service at Dawn has a different implication than the interruption along the distribution line on that service as the storage pool.


MR. VEGH:  So you're saying you're in a position -- given the set of arrangements you have with Union, Tipperary is in a position to provide firm service for the full 1.8 BCF?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  No, I'm not saying there is firm service for the full 1.8 BCF.


MR. VEGH:  Sorry, I meant you can provide firm ‑‑ can Tipperary provide firm service for the full 1.8 BCF to your customers?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  I would feel comfortable doing so, yes, but we don't have firm service, M16 service, from the storage pool to Dawn to cover that.  There is an interruptible component and there is the balancing service, so there are two additional services that we can avail ourselves of to meet our market demand at Dawn.


MR. VEGH:  And we'll get to ‑‑ so, you're saying you could meet the ‑‑ you can market right now 1.8 BCF firm, based on the arrangements you have in place with Union?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes, we could.  I would feel comfortable doing so, yes.


MR. VEGH:  And the ‑‑ what you have included in your

-- on the cost side is the costs of the M16 transport.  And I think Mr. Leslie asked you about that.  Does this cost reflect simply firm service for all of the volumes you're talking about, or does it also reflect the costs of the unauthorized overrun and the additional services that you may require?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  I don't think anybody's referred to unauthorized overrun.  I think what we've referred to is interruptible service, which is what it is.  And we've factored the cost of firm service up to our firm service allotment and we've factored in interruptible costs for the balance.


MR. VEGH:  And both of those costs are reflected in this 273, 379, et cetera, this line?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  That's correct.


MR. VEGH:  I just want to make sure ‑‑ I just want to go back a bit to the firm and balancing and interruptible, because I thought when you initially described your ability to provide the firm ‑‑ for Tipperary to provide a firm service, you made it sound like it was just a matter of balancing as opposed to relying on interruptible service, in addition to your firm M16 volumes to meet your needs.  


Are you saying now that you're relying on a combination of Union firm, M16, and Union interruptible to meet your firm commitments?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  I think what I said to Mr. Leslie is, and I've said previously, is that we've got a contract in a prudent manner.  And if I have a contract to deliver firm volumes at Dawn, then in all likelihood I'm going to contract for about 9.4 million cubic feet a day, which is what my firm component is.


I will have additional contracts that might allow me to deliver more than that, which will have some interruptible capabilities in it.  And if I'm comfortable that some of those volumes can come out prior to peak season, then, yes, I may contract for the full 1.8 on a firm basis, and, I'm not trying to be too -- um..., I'm not trying to make this sound overly complicated, but if Union can't meet 9.4 million cubic feet a day on December 1st, and I am still able to deliver that, because I'm using their balancing service and/or their interruptible service. 


That has a different connotation than what I can deliver during the period from December 15th to February 15th, which is generally some peak periods in there.  And what I would contract for would be those peak periods at the firm volume and make sure that I can meet it for 150 days, 151 days.


MR. VEGH:  The reason I'm lingering on this is that, as you know, firm M16 has been a major issue for your company and for other companies recently in front of the Board.  And when Tipperary was here in front of the Board, I guess a year ago, the case was made quite strongly that you must have complete firm back-to-back service, that if you're going to offer a firm ‑‑ if you're going to offer firm storage service for 1.8 BCF, then you require firm transportation service for 1.8 BCF.


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  That's correct, and I still feel that way.  But right now, the only availability we have is 1.4, so we have to make a calculated business decision on how we're going to meet the 1.8, because we want to cycle 1.8.  And I think the business risks associated with the way we would operate it far outweigh ‑‑ they're outweighed by the likelihood of the outcomes, which is that we wouldn't interrupted for the .4 BCF that -- we don't have the firm capability.


MR. VEGH:  Now, in terms of the ‑‑ so that's helpful.  That's a way to address it as a business risk of being interrupted, and you're basically saying you're prepared to manage that risk.  


So I wanted you to ‑‑ I did mention that Mr. Fisher had commented on that issue, and I wanted to get your reaction to his description of the risk of having ‑‑ what the risk looks like of having an interruptible service to back up a firm service.  


If you could bear with me a moment, I will find that in the transcript.  I don't know if you have a set of the transcripts from this proceeding.  If you could turn to volume 2, line ‑‑ do you have the transcript, the earlier transcripts from...


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Is it what you handed out this morning?


MR. VEGH:  No.  This is from -- this is earlier in this process.  I'm looking at volume 2 of the transcript of proceedings in this case, and I think Mr. Budd can give you a copy.


MR. BUDD:  Would that be back in August?


MR. VEGH:  That would be back in August, yes.


MR. BETTS:  Mr. Vegh, I think several of us, including the Board Panel, don't have that copy.  So I assume you will be reading it?


MR. VEGH:  I will, yes.


MR. BETTS:  If you read it, I think that would cover us.  If you make reference to it, and then read it, and if the witnesses need you to re-read it or if there is a copy that they could view, that would be helpful, but you might as well proceed on that basis.


MR. VEGH:  Okay.


MR. BUDD:  If you could just give us that reference, we have those here.


MR. VEGH:  Volume 2, line 601.  So this is a question actually that your own counsel, who was at that time Mr. Lewis, put to Mr. Fisher, who was at that time the witness on this issue.  And Mr. Lewis put the question, as follows, to his own panel in‑chief:

"Is it appropriate for an embedded storage provider to hold firm service on a distribution system?"


And Mr. Fisher said:  

"I would like to answer that.  My views of this, on this point, are very strongly held, based on operational experience and commercial experience.  Being with Huns, we sometimes didn't play nice with each other, if you will.  By that, I mean the Huns."


Mr. Fisher had a lot of personality, Mr. Schoenmakers.


MR. BUDD:  Mr. Schoenmakers has less.


MR. VEGH:  So Mr. Lewis asked him to be more specific, and Mr. Fisher said:   

"This was a business service and we have a group of investors and they are putting their capital at risk.  They are looking to get rewards by putting their capital at risk, are bringing people to manage the project.  The responsible manager will identify the various risks that are involved and set about trying to manage those risks.


"Now, in order to capture full value for those assets, the project manager is going to need to enter into firm contractual arrangements to provide services on a firm basis for supply and re-delivery of gas.  Underpinning those firm obligations, you must have firm injection and withdrawal supply capabilities that back them up.  To enter into such an agreement on an interruptible basis is done by people in industry, and I've seen people suffer extreme consequences for doing so.  It's unwise.  It's foolish."


Then his counsel asks:

"You mean extreme financial consequences?"  


Mr. Fisher says:  

"Absolutely.  Now, most contracts will have wording that allows one to address failure to deliver and usually a penalty, but that's not what Tribute is proposing to do here."  


So the answer from Mr. Fisher is that the risk of not having firm transport service to back up your firm's storage service is something that's unwise and foolish.  Do you disagree with that?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  I look at it from a different perspective.  I look at it from a calculated risk perspective.  Would I contract for more than 9.4 million cubic feet a day of firm storage deliverability that I would have to deliver on any period during what I would consider peak periods on Union's system?  No, I wouldn't.  That would not be a wise business decision.  But would I contract for some of those services on an interruptible basis?  Yes.  Would I contract for those deliveries to my markets on an interruptible basis?  Yes.  


If I'm looking at other periods during the winter, being, say, November 15th to December 1st, there may be a calculated business risk there that I'm willing to take.  It might be slightly higher than the 9.4, and it may not be, but I would have to look at those factors and I would have to look at what Union operations look like during the periods that I might have a mismatch between firm deliveries to my markets and interruptible service to provide that.  But during any peak periods, no, I think it would be unwise and foolish to contract for firm deliveries in peak periods with a market and underpin them with interruptible service.  


We will have a combination of firm and interruptible in this case, and we'll manage it as best possible, which is what he alluded to in his transcript here.


MR. VEGH:  But isn't the scenario that you're putting forward on the revenue side that you will actually be able to deliver full firm service for the entire volume of the 

-- of your capacity?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  I don't believe so, because we don't have full firm service.  It will be a combination of the two, and we've modelled it that way.


MR. VEGH:  You've modelled it that way?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  We've modelled it that way on the M16 on the transportation costs, yes.


MR. VEGH:  But in terms of your service to your market, it's being provided on a firm basis?  No?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Not all of the volumes, because we don't have all of that, but it's a combination of firm and interruptible.


MR. VEGH:  So can you ‑‑ now, but that's not -- that's not differentiated anywhere in this material.  This material has one unit price.  Wouldn't an interruptible service be -- wouldn't there be a lower price from your customers for an interruptible service?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  There would be if it were interruptible during those peak periods.  And, as I said, I wouldn't contract for that interruptible service in the peak periods.  I would make it firm during the whole winter period, in which case we would be able to make those deliveries during the non‑peak periods so that we would be at 1.8 BCF.


MR. VEGH:  So you don't think that there is any differentiation in the price you receive from your customers, from your market, based on your ability to offer firm service throughout the entire period?  You're not going to be discounted for that?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  There will be a discount for interruptible service, yes.


MR. VEGH:  Okay.  And where is that discount reflected in your revenue?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  It's not taken into account in these numbers, because we've assumed that we're going to be delivering with interruptible during those shoulder periods that are not peak periods.


MR. VEGH:  Right.  But if you assume that you have -- I guess you're ‑‑ if you're assuming that your interruptible service is sufficient to meet your firm market, then, with all respect, you're assuming away the problem that we're presenting.  I mean, wouldn't you have to look at these market prices that you're talking about of -- that result in the revenues of 1557, 1357, and discount that by the fact that you're not in a position to provide firm service for the full amount of the capacity?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  There might be a slight discount, but, no, I haven't applied it here.


MR. VEGH:  And what would that discount be?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  I haven't canvassed the market to find out what it would be at the present, but it's -- it can vary depending on when those interruptions can occur.


MR. VEGH:  So instead of this document looking like the worst case scenario that you described, it starts to paint a fairly optimistic picture, that you actually can market all of your volume and actually be able to deliver all of your volume on a firm basis when, in fact, you're not going to be able to deliver it all on a firm basis, and there will be a discount, but we don't know what it is.


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  I believe I characterized it as a "realistic" case.


MR. VEGH:  Okay.  In terms of other expenses, then, on this projection number 2, the market bid, we've already acknowledged that there hasn't been a material difference in the other components, apart from the revenues and the M16.  But I did want to ask you a question about, in one area, why there hasn't been a material change that perhaps you could explain to me.  


Again, without identifying what the specific fuel gas component is, because that number is confidential, but I think I can note for the public record that that number itself hasn't changed.  Will you confirm that, for the record, that your cost of fuel gas hasn't changed?


MS. LOWRIE:  That is correct.


MR. VEGH:  And, sorry, when I ‑‑


MR. BUDD:  I'm not sure that's accurate.  Can you hang on for a sec, please?


MS. LOWRIE:  The only change is that we are, in the new case, developing south Tipp in 2007 instead of 2008.


MR. VEGH:  Well, we'll get to that.  That's an acceleration of the cost for the south Tipperary?


MS. LOWRIE:  Right.


MR. VEGH:  But in terms of the ‑‑ but in terms of the number, your expenses for fuel gas for 2006, leaving aside the acceleration of south Tipperary, that number hasn't changed from November to now?


MS. LOWRIE:  That's correct.


MR. VEGH:  Now, in light of what you've been telling me about the fundamental changes in the market, shouldn't that ‑‑ I would expect that number to be higher now, wouldn't it?


MS. LOWRIE:  We assumed a constant price of gas between November and today.  I'm not sure what the price of gas was in November versus today.


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Yes.  It's been up since then, yes.  I think this is something that may need to be updated.


MR. VEGH:  Okay.  Perhaps when we go on in camera, we can estimate what that update would be.  


And, finally, the other major change in the revised business case is something we've just talked about, and that is the schedule for the south Tipperary pool has now been accelerated from 2008 to 2007; right?


MS. LOWRIE:  Yes.


MR. VEGH:  Now, could you again look at your ‑‑ the business case you filed in November, which is Exhibit 8.6, where you described this.  And at page -- this is described at page 5, that is the development of the southern pool.  I'm looking at Exhibit 8.6, that's the business case you filed back in November.  

     MR. BUDD:  Page 5?       

     MR. VEGH:  Page 5.  I'm looking at the second paragraph from the top.  

     MR. BUDD:  Could you start reading that so we could make sure we're on the same page? 

     MR. VEGH:  Sure.  The witnesses have it.  I'm looking at page 5, second paragraph from the top, it says -- describing the development of the southern pool, it says:

“Due to the lack of information regarding actual pool performance and Union system capabilities, the North Tipperary pool will be developed and operated before capital is committed to developing the South Tipperary pool.  Development of the --”

And then it goes on to say:

“So, basically, it says that the plan is to operate and develop the northern pool before committing capital to the southern pool.  And it now looks like the new plan is to no longer wait on gaining any experience in operating the northern pool before committing capital to the southern pool.”

Is that right?   

     MS. LOWRIE:  No, that is not correct.  We'd have a year of experience.  And when I evaluated this project, and looked at the engineering on the project, I want to drill the vertical portion of a second well.  I think it would be prudent to develop -- to drill it this year or early next year. 

     I'm told that you cannot verify what the three horizontal legs of the one well, your injection-withdrawal -- how well the well performs, until you're actually operating the pool.  That, to me, is a business risk.  It takes approximately three months to drill the vertical portion of the well.  We drill that with a cable tool, and we do that in the summer months.  

     I think that we should be doing that, to reduce our risk.  Because that -- the starting point for that well can either go to the North or the South Tipperary pool.  If we don't need it for the North Tipperary pool, we'll be developing the South Tipperary pool that same year - I would think - the second year, assuming everything goes well with the North.  

     But we would really be into the second season, and have a full year of operations, before we commit the capital to the South Tipp.       

     MR. VEGH:  “Into the second season.”  You're saying into 2007 before you commit the capital? 

     MS. LOWRIE:  Yes.  

     MR. VEGH:  Well, this has the pool operating in 2007.  

     MS. LOWRIE:  This has the pool operating in 2007, yes.  So you would begin -- you would be drilling your well, it's just injecting gas into it.  It doesn't require any additional expenditures, except for the cost of the well and cushion gas, which is -- cushion gas is on injection, after you start injection.

     MR. VEGH:  But, again, let me ask you what’s changed since November.  In November you said you wanted to have -- you needed more information about actual pool performance and Union's system capabilities before you would commit capital.  And therefore, you were going to put it off for a couple of years.  And you're now saying you don't have to wait until you've had that experience in operating the pool.  You’re prepared -- you see yourself in operation for this pool in 2007.  

     MS. LOWRIE:  I see us drilling the upper portion of the second well.  If everything goes well, I would be drilling this in 2007.  

     What has changed, from November until now, are the storage values, what we can receive in the market for storage and the amount of interest in the larger project south.  We have 11 to 12 BCF, in total, to develop.  And we are speaking to people about building a line from Tipperary down to Lobo to pick up those additional volumes.  The South Tipperary pool would be tied into the northern market as well as the south.  

     MR. VEGH:  So are you saying that -- sorry. 

     MS. LOWRIE:  People are saying they're interested in the larger project, so if everything proceeds like we hope, we would step up this proposal.  This was always the long-term plan, but it looks like we may be doing it sooner rather than later.  I expect we will be back to the Board next summer for the balance of the pools.  

     MR. VEGH:  Are you -- so you're saying that what’s changed between now and November is that we now have market prices that make this attractive -- or, more attractive, so you want to accelerate it, so you can earn those revenues?  

     MS. LOWRIE:  That's correct.  

     MR. VEGH:  And you mentioned you would be back at the Board.  Can you tell me what steps you would have to take before being able to sell services uses from the southern -- or the South Tipperary pool?  Like, what are the steps that would have to -- what would have to be done before you're in a position to sell services from that pool?

     MS. LOWRIE:  We would need to drill a well into the pool to start with.  The South Tipp and the North Tipp pool have been designated as storage.  It's one designation.  We would have to receive a -- you’d have to get the permission to drill the well.  

     MR. VEGH:  And you would have to make transportation arrangements?  

     MS. LOWRIE:  I don't believe so.  Mr. Francis had transportation arrangements from the Tipperary pool.  If we look at --

     MR. VEGH:  When we looked at the total transportation you had in place, we found that it was short to meet the firm commitments you would make on the 1.8 BCF from the northern Tipperary pool.  So it's short by an additional .7 BCF - isn't it? - to make firm -- to market firm services from the South Tipperary pool.  

     MS. LOWRIE:  Okay.  We've taken all of Union's firm capacity, and Mr. Francis testifies on line 598:

“And, in addition, any incremental or interruptible capacity our business model has.”

And he believed that we had the capacity for about -- that Union's system had a capacity for about 2.5 BCF.  We have 3.1 BCF in the two pools.  So, as Union's market grew, we felt we could provide that from that pool.  

     MR. VEGH:  Again, my only point is this.  You don't have -- I went -- I've gone through with Mr. Schoenmakers the amount of firm capacity you have with Union, to back up your firm commitments to the market.  And the firm capacity that you have with Union is insufficient, now, to back up firm commitments to the market for the northern Tipperary pool.  That's at the full 1.8 BCF that your business plan sets out.  

     So is -- so my point is that the shortfall that you face, in terms of back-to-back firm transport for your firm commitments, is simply increased and exacerbated by adding in the southern Tipperary pool.  In other words, you don't have additional firm capacity to meet those volumes. 

     MS. LOWRIE:  That's correct.  

     MR. VEGH:  And so I take it that that has not been taken into account when you look at the revenues available from the southern Tipperary pool.  You just applied the same unit values to the capacity that's available, to the 7 -- .7 BCF?  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  That's correct.       

     MS. LOWRIE:  For the base case. 

     MR. VEGH:  Pardon me?  

     MS. LOWRIE:  For the base case, yes.  

     MR. VEGH:  Right.  Well, that's what I’m looking at, yes. 

     So that will not be -- and, just to carry through on that, Mr. Schoenmakers, when you described this as a “manageable issue” for the northern Tipperary volumes, when we add on the southern Tipperary volumes, you're not in a position to provide firm service for those volumes, are you?

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  At present, we're not, no.  But, if there is any increases -- I mean, there is two factors we would take into account:  increases in the market -- in Union's market area, in that area; as well as the potential for an additional pipeline south that would tie in other pools and, basically, take away a lot of the interruptible variability that we have in the project.


MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  This would actually be a good time to break.  I've finished on the revenue statements.  I was going to ask some questions about capital, but I think there might be a mix of what's in camera and what is on the public record, and it may be helpful if I could, over the lunch break, try to narrow down to see if I could just address this entirely on the public record.


MR. BETTS:  Very well.  I will ask you, Mr. Vegh, if you have any estimate of how much longer you will need in cross‑examination?


MR. VEGH:  I think it will be no more than 15 minutes.


MR. BETTS:  When we come back.  Mr. Budd, can I assume that you will probably have some questions for re-direct, or not necessarily assume that at this point?


MR. BUDD:  I doubt that I will have questions in re-direct.  I'm satisfied with this part so far.  I guess the one thing I want to ask the Board's permission is, because this has gone a little differently this morning than I anticipated in my proposal about the confidential and non‑confidential parts, I'm not sure how much more one is going to need to explain - I'm really asking the Board permission to speak to the witnesses - in respect specifically and only about what more does one need to cover in the direct testimony on the confidential part, because we've just gone so far already, in a manner which is acceptable, that I don't think I'm going to have much even in the direct evidence confidential portion.  So I don't think I'm going to be long on that, and I don't have any redirect at this point.


MR. BETTS:  Well, perhaps we can allow the parties to talk about that over lunch.  I think the Board panel anticipated that that may, in fact, be the case.  So we will let you talk about that and sort out the degree to which you will need to rely on a closed session at all, and perhaps you could report back to us after the lunch break.  


There is one question, and I'm hoping that the applicant can help us with it.  There have been several items that have arisen regarding the revised business plan, that we've had indications from the witnesses that there should be revisions to the plan.  We're wondering what is the possibility of those revisions being done over the lunch break.


MR. BUDD:  Well perhaps we could just ask that question now.  I've heard for sure the one on fuel gas, but there was another thing.


MR. BETTS:  There was the one on fuel gas and the degree to which the discounted revenue from the -- that interruptible portion of the volume, the .4 BCF, what ‑‑ to what extent that might influence the bottom line.


MR. BUDD:  Could I ask the witnesses if that's a possibility to plug that into the model over the break?


MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  I'm not sure that it's possible, but I will endeavour to do that.


MR. BETTS:  Okay.  And did you have another one?  The Board panel would also ask, while you're anticipating that, too, or talking about that, to see if it would be possible to include the influence of that interruptible volume on the south pool, recognizing that the business ‑- that may be a less sensitive issue to deal with.  But to the extent possible, perhaps you could try to give us the assessment of that impact, as well.


MR. BUDD:  Certainly.  We will do our best and I'll report back to you right after the lunch break on that.


MR. BETTS:  Thank you.


MR. BUDD:  May I just ask, Mr. Chair, through you, if when we're caucusing we could try to determine whether we think we would be done today, the evidentiary portion?  It almost sounds like we might.


MR. BETTS:  That's where I was starting to go with this.  I'm not sure.  I don't want to limit it, as it's something I ‑‑ I don't want to have us at five o'clock say, Well, we have to stop hearing this thing.  But I would ask everybody, if possible, from a straight expense point of view ‑ and I appreciate that the applicants are concerned with that ‑ let's see what we can do to compress this into one day.  But on the other hand, we want to make sure that we have all of the evidence we need to properly decide the matter.  


So, perhaps over the lunch, you can talk to all the parties and see if you can help the panel understand what time will be required for the remainder of the day and how it could be used.  And I think, since we do have a lot to do and you have a lot to do over lunch, I'm going to restrict everybody to a one‑hour lunch today, and it will probably end up being a working lunch for that.  So let us try to be back here at ten minutes to two.  Is there anything further?  Then we will reconvene at ‑‑


MR. GIBSON:  Mr. Chair, if I could address you, please.


MR. BETTS:  Yes, Mr. Gibson.


MR. GIBSON:  I've received some indication that I may be required elsewhere to attend to a court matter.  Mr. Manocha -- the Ministry is essentially monitoring this aspect of the hearing rather than obviously participating in any full extent.  So with your indulgence, I believe that Mr. Manocha, to my right, might ‑‑ will be ‑‑ will re-attend after lunch, at least for the balance of the open session.  But with your indulgence, I may be required to leave or have to leave.


MR. BETTS:  That's fine, and we will certainly welcome Mr. Manocha's participation, if that is required.


MR. GIBSON:  Thank you.


MR. BETTS:  Thank you.  Anything further before we break?  Then we will reconvene at ten minutes to two.  


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:50 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:57 p.m.  

     MR. BETTS:  Thank you, everybody.  Please be seated. 

     Are there any preliminary matters before we resume the hearing? 


PRELIMINARY MATTERS: 

     MR. BUDD:  Yes, Mr. Chairman, Members of the Panel.  I have a few.  They're in the good news category.  

     Having conducted a little canvass in respect of timing, it does appear like we'll finish the evidentiary portion today in a comfortable time-frame.

     Which brings me then to the second point, on argument.  I've had a chance to speak with my friend, Mr. Vegh - I’m getting some reaction, perhaps, from my friends behind me - that the applicants would be prepared to submit written argument on Monday and that would be argument in-chief.  On Wednesday, others could do similarly, submitting their arguments.  And then, on Friday, we would have a chance to reply, as necessary.  

     Mr. Vegh and I are agreed with that.  We think that works, and, hopefully, that will work for our friends. 

     MR. BETTS:  Are there any comments with respect to that proposed schedule?  

     The Panel recognizes the amount of time it's taken to deal with this matter.  And I think I’d like to -- well, after starting off with that statement, say, can you tell us why you would rather move towards a written argument process, that will take a week?  Or, as an alternative, perhaps, to return tomorrow and deal with oral arguments?  

     MR. BUDD:  My answer is, actually, quite simple.  Mr. Vegh proposed it, and I thought, perhaps, that's what may have been desired, over the break.  I'm quite happy to come here tomorrow and argue this, orally, first thing in the morning.  My argument in-chief wouldn't be long, I can assure you.  We've been at this for some time.  And I'm happy to hear from others, of course, right away thereafter.  

     Of course, it's always been our dream that, if the Board did find favour with the application, given the timing in the spring and this busy season that we could -- perhaps we could hear the Board's views from the dias, if they were so inclined, in the future, with -- and reasons to follow.  

     MR. BETTS:  Is there any -- I think, at this point, the Board Panel is proposing that we have oral arguments tomorrow.  Can I have anyone give me any submissions that could change our mind?  

     MR. VEGH:  No, in fact I must have misunderstood Mr. Budd's proposal, then.  I'm perfectly content to do this tomorrow. 

     MR. BETTS:  Thank you.

     MR. BUDD:  Sorry about that. 

     MR. BETTS:  Okay, then that is the schedule we will follow.  We will, if -- I'm confident we won't finish, totally, today, but we should finish the evidentiary portion.  So we will begin tomorrow morning at 9:30. 

     And I do see a lot of people out there, and I appreciate the interest.  I want everyone to know, I -- you needn't, from the Board point of view, attend tomorrow if you are not making a submission to the Board.  That's a comment for all of you to take however you wish.  But, certainly, anyone wishing to make arguments or submissions to the Board for final arguments, we would appreciate hearing from you. 

     That being said, where did we leave this?  I think, Mr. Vegh, you had a few more questions?  

     And is there any -- can you help the Panel with respect to the matter of confidential treatment of some of the evidence?  Is there a process to consider that?  

     MR. BUDD:  Mr. Chairman, what I can report to the Board in respect of that piece is that -- let me first go to the three parts that you asked about just before the break.  

     We have been able to make some progress on the fuel gas issue over the break, and we'll report to you on the -- in the confidential portion of the hearing about that.  As well, in respect of your -- the issue that you raised about discounted revenue -- that one as well.  We can address that.  And as well, the interruptible volume on the south pool, we can address that when we go into the confidential portion of the proceeding.  

     Mr. Vegh indicates he's not going to be long.  I will not be long, either, when we get into that confidential portion of the proceeding in examination in-chief.  Just a very few minutes, frankly.  And that's the process that we're looking at.  

     MR. BETTS:  Okay.  Well, let us do that.

     And, Mr. Vegh, we'll invite you to continue your 

cross-examination.  

     MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  And just for your information, I’ll have a few more questions on the -- on Exhibit 9.2.  I will have some questions when we go in-camera on that issue.  

     And I believe when I finish my questions on 9.2, the applicant will present their evidence in-chief on the financial viability issue, and that will be addressed, as I understand it, in-camera, in its entirety.  

     And Mr. Budd and I will go through the transcripts to prepare a redacted version, as well.  

     MR. BUDD:  Yes.  

     MR. BETTS:  Thank you.

TRIBUTE GAS CORPORATION AND TIPPERARY RESOURCES INC.- 

     PANEL 1; RESUMED: 

Jane Lowrie; Previously sworn.

Jack Schoenmakers; Previously sworn.

CONTINUED CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. VEGH:
     MR. VEGH:  So, Panel, to just finish up on these schedules, then.  We've been spending most of our time talking about projection number 2 in Exhibit 9.2.  I just wanted to make sure that we did cover off, for completion of the record, projection number -- the other projections that are set out here. 

     The first is projection number 3, which is called “Market Bid Interruptible Service.”  And I understood you, Mr. Schoenmakers, to say this is not being proposed by the applicant, this model 

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  That's correct. 

     MR. VEGH:  So, we can take this one off the chart. 

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  Definitely, yes. 

     MR. VEGH:  And similarly, with projection no. 4, that's “NYMEX Current Value”:  I believe you provided that for illustrative purposes, based on current NYMEX prices.  But you're not proposing this as a revenue projection for the project. 

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  That's correct.       

     MR. VEGH:  So we can take this projection off the -- not off the record, but off the cards, as well.  

     Similarly, your final projection is projection no. 5, “NYMEX Current Value with Interruptible Service.”  I take it that that can be disregarded, as well?  

     MR. SCHOENMAKERS:  That's correct.  

     MR. VEGH:  Thank you. 

     Those are all the questions I have for this panel on the public record.  

     MR. BETTS:  Mr. Budd, do you have any questions in redirect on the questions that have been asked so far? 

     The Board Panel will reserve any questions it has until after the in-camera session, as well.  And, hopefully, our answers will have been derived in that session.  

     MR. BUDD:  No, sir, I have no questions in respect of the redirect for this, the public part of the proceeding.      

     MR. BETTS:  Okay.  Thank you. 

     Then I think we're ready to enter into the in-camera session.  And so my understanding is, those parties that would fall under the category of "commercially-competitive" should leave the room at this point.  Thank you. 

     And we will, at that point, establish who else is left.  And that will allow us to determine whether there have been agreements of confidentiality signed.  

     Do I take it that those that are leaving now will come back, afterwards?  

     MR. LESLIE:  May I ask a question in that regard, sir? 

     MR. BETTS:  Yes.  

     MR. LESLIE:  Is it intended that the Board will ask its questions after the in-camera session?  

     MR. BETTS:  Yes, it is intended. 

     MR. LESLIE:  So the questions on this evidence will be -- 

     MR. BETTS:  It will be public --

     MR. LESLIE:  -- later today?  

     MR. BETTS:  -- yes.  First of all, all of our questions -- that's a good point.  Let me confer with my fellow Panelists. 

[The Board confers] 

     MR. BETTS:  Mr. Leslie, I think I can answer your question in this way, that would probably be helpful.  The Panel has discussed this, and we do not have -- there have been no questions arisen at the Panel regarding anything we have heard so far. 

     MR. LESLIE:  Well then, sir, with your permission, I think we'll excuse ourselves, if that's okay. 

     MR. BETTS:  Very well.  Thank you, and we appreciate that. 

     Any other -- can I hear from any other parties that do not expect to be back?  I would just like to make sure, if you do want to be back, that we try to get you back at the appropriate time.  Who will not be back?  

     MR. MANOCHA:  Mr. Betts?  I’m just trying to understand.  Is there a real purpose to come back, if you’re going to be discussing most of this stuff in camera. I mean, is there something happening after the in-camera session or ...


MR. BETTS:  I can't really tell you that, quite frankly.


MR. MANOCHA:  Let me try to rephrase that, in terms of, is there any idea of the timing that we should probably come back to check?


MR. BETTS:  Well, first of all, anything that is discussed publicly after that will be broadcast over the web, on the Internet, and it will also be included in the transcripts that will be available very shortly.  That's the only thing I can tell you.  There may be some discussion that goes on after the closed session, and I really can't confine myself at this point.


MR. MANOCHA:  Sir, I think, with due respect, if we're only going to be discussing this aspect of it, we will certainly take leave, and we've already made our final submissions, so I don't think we will be back.  We thank you.


MR. BETTS:  That's very good.  Thank you very much.  


MR. REDFORD:  I'll do the same.  I'll take my leave at this point.


MR. BETTS:  Thank you.  Then I will ask this question:  Who will want to come back following this session?  Thank you.  Okay.  Then everyone else will be back afterwards.  The only thing I can suggest is that you stay close.  The best we can do is to ‑‑ we will open the door when we're done and call out in the hall to see if there is anybody out there.  Apart from that, we can't go searching for anybody.  


So I will ask those parties to please leave the room.  And for the court reporter information, this session, as soon as I turn the sign to "off air", will become a closed session from the public, and the transcript will be separated from the other transcript for today.  


MR. CHINNECK:  Sir, may I enquire about my client and whether or not they're able to continue through the

in-camera session.  They haven't signed confidentiality agreements; only I have.


MR. BETTS:  Well, I will ask Mr. Budd that.  I think originally the understanding was that only the legal counsel for the parties could see that information, but Mr. Budd kind of explained it a little bit differently today.  I will ask Mr. Budd what his position is.


MR. BUDD:  Well, you're quite correct, Mr. Chairman, that when we moved into this process even some months ago, the deal, if I can call it that, was that the Board had an expectation that parties could have their counsel ‑ and I agreed to that ‑ see the confidential information.  I have no difficulty with that still.  They've already seen that information.  I think it is entirely fair that if we're going to move into an in-camera proceeding, they also see the updates, and that would be available.  I've indicated that, as well, in my correspondence.  


With respect to broadening the numbers to those who have not signed the confidentiality agreements, I'm not inclined to agree to that.  I don't know what it is that they're going to do at this point in time, not having seen that information; whereas, of course, different from that is if their counsel has seen that information, will be able to make that leap into the update and do so and participate fully and knowledgeably.  


Perhaps the larger conundrum that the Board is faced with, as well - and it's not something perhaps you need to address today - is that when counsel to a client sees that information, as they did in February and now they will hear that today, what are they, in any event, entitled to tell to their clients?  


This is a difficult situation, and I asked my friend, Mr. Leslie, about this over the Christmas holidays, what was his experience, and he indicated that the only other tribunal that he knew of that had such a procedure was the Competition Bureau in Ottawa, the tribunal there.  


So I don't know how to help Mr. Chinneck's clients without opening the door and, you know, re-signing a bunch of agreements that I don't know will help him or them, frankly.  So my inclination is to say, at this point, Mr. Chinneck is welcome.  He is certainly not a competitor nor are his clients.  He is entitled to sit through the proceeding, and then we just have to somehow trust his judgment as to what information he's allowed to provide to his clients, having heard what we're about to engage in.  Thank you.


MR. BETTS:  Thank you.  Any comments in respect to that submission?  


MR. CHINNECK:  That's fine.  So we will accept that.


MR. BETTS:  Thank you, very much, Mr. Chinneck.  That's fine.  Mr. Budd, I will ask you to kind of stand up and survey the room and make sure you are comfortable with everybody else that's in the room.


MR. BUDD:  Yes.  


‑‑‑ In-camera session commenced at 2:14 p.m.


--- In-camera session suspended at 2:15 p.m.


MR. BETTS:  Okay, now we're back on the air at this point and I'll be able to get the lights on very shortly.  But at this stage, if we could, I would like ‑‑ 


MS. NOWINA:  Do we need technical people to help?


MR. BETTS:  No.  We will work our way through it.  We will now swear in Mr. Crich to the witness panel, please.  

TRIBUTE GAS CORPORATION AND TIPPERARY RESOURCES INC.- 

     PANEL 1; RESUMED: 

Jane Lowrie; Previously sworn.


Jack Schoenmakers; Previously sworn.

Donald Crich; Sworn.

MR. BETTS:  Thank you, Mr. Crich.  You're welcome, and the witness has now been sworn in and we will now return to the closed session.  


‑‑‑ In‑camera session resumed at 2:16 p.m. 


‑‑‑ In-camera session concluded at 3:12 p.m.


MR. BETTS:  We are now resuming open session.  Would someone please open the door, and, if you can do a quick viewing of the halls out there and invite anybody back in, Mr. Chinneck, I would appreciate it.  Thank you.  Is that pretty well everybody that was grouped outside?  You're all back?  Thank you very much.  


I appreciate your patience in allowing us to go through the closed session.  We are back in open session and we are back on air.  Are there any -- are there any matters that we need to discuss at this point before we break for the day, on the understanding that we will come back tomorrow for arguments? 


Then unless, Mr. Budd, would you prefer, as an option - I will leave the option to you - to make your argument in‑chief at this stage.


MR. BUDD:  I think I would prefer, if I might, to have a review of the transcript overnight.  Thank you.


MR. BETTS:  Thank you.  That's fine.  We will meet tomorrow, anyway.  Thank you.  I believe with that, we're in a position where we can now adjourn for the day, and remind anyone that wishes to make submissions in the form of arguments for tomorrow, that we will begin here at 9:30 in the morning.  And with that, I say thank you all ‑‑ oh, before I do, I believe this is all our ‑‑ this will end the need for this witness panel.  


I want to thank you very much on behalf of the Board.  Your information was certainly helpful.  It will help us move towards a ‑‑ the appropriate decision in this matter.  With those words, then, we will adjourn now until 9:30 tomorrow morning.  

‑‑‑ Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:15 p.m.
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